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Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following
provisions (see General Instruction A.2. below):

o Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)
o Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)
o Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))

0 Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

EXPLANATORY NOTE

This Current Report on Form 8-K/A is filed as an amendment to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 4, 2016 filed by ATN International, Inc.
(the “Company”) with the Securities and Exchange Commission and incorporated herein by reference, disclosing the completion of the acquisition of a
controlling interest in KeyTech Limited (“KeyTech”). The purchase price was approximately $42 million and was funded with cash on hand. On May 3,
2016, the Company began consolidating the results of KeyTech within its financial statements in its International Telecom segment.

This amendment on Form 8-K/A is being filed to provide the historical consolidated financial statements of KeyTech and pro forma financial
information required by Item 9.01(a) and (b) of Form 8-K. Except as described above, all other information in and exhibits to the original Form 8-K remain
unchanged.

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.
(a) Financial Statements of Businesses Acquired

The following financial statements of KeyTech are attached as Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2 to this Form 8-K/A and are incorporated herein by
reference:



Audited consolidated balance sheet of KeyTech as of March 31, 2015, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, of changes in equity and cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2015, and the related notes thereto.

Unaudited consolidated balance sheets of KeyTech as of September 30, 2015 and March 31, 2015, and the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income, of changes in equity and cash flows for the six months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, and the
related notes thereto.

(b) Pro Forma Financial Information
The following unaudited pro forma financial information is attached as Exhibit 99.3 to this Form 8-K/A and is incorporated by reference
herein:

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet of the Company and KeyTech as of December 31, 2015, and the related
unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015.

(d) Exhibits

Exhibit 2.1 Transaction Agreement, dated as of October 5, 2015, by and among the Company, ATN Caribbean Holdings, Ltd., ATN
Bermuda Holdings Ltd., KeyTech Limited and Chancery Holdings Limited. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2015 (File No. 001-12593)).

Exhibit 23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd.

Exhibit 99.1 Audited consolidated balance sheet of KeyTech as of March 31, 2015, and the related consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, of changes in equity and cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2015, and the related notes
thereto.

Exhibit 99.2 Unaudited consolidated balance sheets of KeyTech as of September 30, 2015 and March 31, 2015, and the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, of changes in equity and cash flows for the six months ended September 30, 2015
and 2014, and the related notes thereto.

Exhibit 99.3 Unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet of the Company and KeyTech as of December 31, 2015, and the
related unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the twelve months ended December 31,
2015.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

ATN INTERNATIONAL, INC.
By:  /s/Justin D. Benincasa

Justin D. Benincasa
Chief Financial Officer

Dated: July 19, 2016
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99.1 Audited consolidated balance sheet of KeyTech as of March 31, 2015, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income,
of changes in equity and cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2015, and the related notes thereto.

99.2 Unaudited consolidated balance sheets of KeyTech as of September 30, 2015 and March 31, 2015, and the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, of changes in equity and cash flows for the six months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, and the related notes
thereto.

99.3 Unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet of the Company and KeyTech as of December 31, 2015, and the related

unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015.






Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-190523) of ATN International, Inc. of our report
dated July 29, 2015 relating to the financial statements of KeyTech Limited, which appears in this Current Report on Form 8-K/A of ATN International, Inc.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd.
Hamilton, Bermuda
July 19, 2016
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pwc Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of KeyTech Limited

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of KeyTech Limited and its
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balanee sheet as of March 31, 2015, and the related
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, of changes in equity and of cash flows for the year then
ended.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
staterments in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal control as management determines is necessany Lo
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or ervor.

Auditor’s responsibility

O responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally aceepted in the United States of
America. Those standards reguine that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audil involves performing procedures to oblain audit evidenee about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company’s
preparation and fir presentation of the consolidated Gnancial statements in order o design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circomstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
signilicant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit opinion.

Basis for gualificd opinion

As discussed in Note 2.1, the accompanying consolidated financial statements are not presented in
accordance with TAS 1, "Presentation of financial statements,” as they do not include comparative figures as
afand for the yvear ended March 31, 2014, which constitules a departure from International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Qualified opinion

In our opinien, excepl for the exclusion of comparative information as discussed in the Basis for qualified
opinion paragraph, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairy, in all material
respects, the financial position of KeyTech Limited and its subsidiaries as of March 31, 2015, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Finaneial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

ﬂm&&ﬂjafﬁyw héd

Hamilton, Bermuda
July 29, 2015

PricewaterhouseCoopers Lid., Chartered Professional Accountants, P.O. Box HM 171, Hamilton HM EX, Bermuda
T +1(441) 205 2000, F:+1 (441) 295 1242, wene prec.com/bermuda



lidated Bala

As ot March 31, 2005

Naotes March 31, 2015
ASSETS
Current assels
Cash and cash equivalents {exchuding bank overdraft) 12 3 3,717,631
Accounts receivable 13 8,413,539
Materials 14 33,269
Prepaid expenses and other cument assets 15 4,004,261
Assets held for sale 9 Q48,471
17,127,171
Mon-current assels
Avadlable-forsale Gnancial assets 33 16 1,108,546
Loan receivable 28 5,000,000
Property, plam amnd expuipment 17 117,527,905
Investments in assooiales 9 25,760,775
Intangible assels 18 80,418 860
Total assels 5 246,045,263
Current labilities
Accounts payable and acered liabilities 14 5 13,547,836
Bank overdraft 20 770,450
Foreign tax liabilities 168, 500
Interest payable 522578
Uneamned income £, 000 (108
Prefemmed share redemption amounts unclaimed 20 GRT 116
Loan payable 20 65,428,571
Liabilities held for sale 29 83,333
28,316,482
Mon-current liabilities
Loan payable 20 35,357,143
Sub-ordinated debt 20 24,700,000
Tot liahilities 5 88,373,625
EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital 23 3,806,197
Share premiwm 86,058,361
Contnbuted suplus 20,994,717
Shares held for issue 23, 26 T.493,110
Cther comprehensive income (loss) 14,380,750
Retained eamings 18,915,206
151,657,431
MNon-controlling interests 24 0,591 4,207
Total edquity 158,571 638
Total labilities and ¢quity 3 246,945,263
A
Approved by the Board of Directors é A
-
~ Director Ir'.[l_,!\-—-ﬂ Dvirector
» JA
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‘onsolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Forthe vear ended March 31, 2015

Notes 2015
OPERATING REVENUES
[Data revemes 3 20,51 7,685
TV revernses 23,718,598
Voice revenues 2,875,605
Ditectory revenues 4,289,745
Fined data revenues 2,217,600
Hardware and software revenues 4,566
Other revenues 4,208,654
5 3 66,903,503
OFPERATING EXPENSES
Salanes and emplovee benefit expenses G 20,854,821
Staff termination costs [ 443,766
Operations and maintenance expenses 26,070,997
Depreciation and amortization 17,18 15820862
General and administrative expenses 7 13,287,750
Govermment taxes, fees and levies & 3,432,965
5 719,911,161
Operating loss (13,007,658)
Share ofincome of associates O 7,135,380
Finance income 10 193,050
Finance costs 10 (3,216,251)
Loss on disposal of subsidiany 28 (18,617,231)
Cain on investment 11,307 402
Met proceeds on inswrance ¢laim 222 2,144,352
Losses on property revaluation 11,17 (2,021,350
Mon-controlling interests 126,554
Loss for the vear from contimung operations 5 (15,B65,653)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 2,626,474
Loz for the vear -3 {13.239,17%)
Loss attributable to
Equity holders. of the company {13,112,625)
Mon-controlling interests {126,554)

5 (13239,179)

Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued
aperations attributable to owners of the parent

From continuing operations 11 5 (1.06)
From discontinued operations iR E
Fromm {loss) profit for the vear $ ((LH8)

A
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)

For the year ended March 31, 2015

.............................................................. Metes = 2015
Loss for the year 5 (13,230,179
Other comprehensive income (loss) forthe year:
Discontinued operafions
Sale of subsidiary — defined benefit pension plan .l 2620013
Sale of subsidiary - retirement augmentation plan 22 o ARADBL
3,104,194

Ttems that way be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Gain on property revaluations 211,17 14,010,424
Other comprehensive Inconie for the year & 14618
Total comprehensive income for the vear 5 3 RTE 439
Total comprehensive income (loss) atiributable to:
Equity holders of the company 5 4,001,993
Mon-controlling interests (126,554
Total comprehensive income (loss) atiributable to:
Contimaing operations 5 (1,855,229
Discontinued operations 5,730,668

5 3875439

The aceompdrtrng moles and a8 (aregral part of these consalidated  Franrisl sletemerl Lk s o Woeld of Covmeiose || EEYTECH ANKUAL REPORT 2818 4



‘onsolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended March 31, 2015
Shares ik Mom.
Share held far Share Contribuied  comprehensive Heinmed conirsling

Mt ruplinl Iwwme premiums e Imcome EErmings Tt Imperest Tetel
Balanes - April 1, 2004 53,640, 00E » EERANN,TAY 20030454 27 B SALTIAAIT 1M GG 214566 SIRGADS 51D
Lo fioor bt pldo-d - - - - = (13,012,625 {13, 11L625) (126,554} {13,230, 170}
OB €oms prefendive
incosse:
Realized prafit on valustion 2.1.1,

- . = - 14,010,424 - 14,000,424 . 14,010,824
of progerty 17
Sabe of subsidiary - defined
. . . 5 363 5 3 . 3 &3

benelt pension plan 21 A2 003 2E30, 183 2EI0 003
Sale ol whidiury - 12 . . . . 251,081 . #51,081 : 2081
retiremend smgmentalion
pla
Comprechenive incossc
for the period U = o B 17114615 17.114,618 1004615
Hon-controlling inleredts - - - - - {126,541} {12254} &, S0, 508 TR
Shares dssued it 14635, 253 . 2,644,628 E B - el - I,50%917
Shares hedd for |see: I3, 16 . TARLLID . = . - TATL LD - TASI 11D
Diividends . . - . = {LESBRNIy (L350 = {L5SBT)
Comkribution o eqaty . . " T4, 263 = . 74,263 . T4, 261
Malance - March X5, 2003 £3.506,197 402,010 SRA038341  S20.004,T17 SIA0E9. 750 S15015104 $151,657431 £6014207 $155471 438
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sh Flows

Notes 2015
CASH FLOW FROVIDED BY (USED IN)
Operating activities

Loss for the period 5 (13,239,179)
Adpstments for:
Depreciation and amorization 17,18 15820862
Bad debt expenses and impairment allowances 13 B24,487
Share of income of associates O (7135380
Loss on disposal of subsidiary 18,617,231
Gain on investment (11,397, 492)
Loss on property revaluation 2,021 350
Profit for the year from discontinued operations (2.626,474)
Changes initems of working capital;
Accounts receivable 2,996,166
Materials 1,821,041
Prepaid expenses and other cument assets 2,996,911
Accounts payable and acerued habilites 2.A35,026)
Foreign tax liabilities (5,008 )
Uneamed income (2B72.418)
Working capital acquired on business combinations 3,120,520
Met cash generated from discontinued activities 6,207 1041
Met cash generated fromoperating activities $ 14,812,723
Investing activities
Repayments received on loans to associates T04,983
Adclitional investment in sssociates 101,660
Dividends received from associates 5,749,235
Sale of available-for-sale financial assets 342287
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (7832172)
Purchase of intangible assets (1,535 8T0)
Property, plant and equipment acipired on bausiness combinations (38,657.606)
Intangible assets ansing on business combinations (13,850,270)
Goodwill ansing on basiness combimations {23,484,701)
Met cash from discontinued sctivities 24, 780,000
Met cash used Tor investing activitles 5 (53,682,454)
Fimancing activithes
Armount received on bomrowing facility L IREEY
Amount repaid on borrowang fueility (30,714,286)
Met amount received as subordinated debt 26 24, 700,000
Redemption of preferred shares 20 (8,555)
Dividends paid on eommon shares 2] (2,871,201)
Net cash reccived from lnancing activilies 5 36,105,958
Decrease In cash and cash equivalenis % (2.763.773)

Cashand cash equivalents amd bank overdrafi -
Beginning ol vear

Castvand eash equivalents amd bank overdralt - End of year 12 5 2,938,181

3 5,701,954

The aeoompanying monks are an (efegral part of it consolidated Fravcisl el Ukfobirg o Woeld of Compaetiose || EEYTECH ANNUAL REPORT 2818 (3



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31

The Company and its regulatory framework

KeyTech Limited {the “Company™) iz incorporated in Benmeda with limited lisbility under the Companies Act 1981, The Company,
throaegh its subsidiaries and associates, is a supplier of information and communications services, providing & wide range of data,
Intemat, voice, and media services

The Company iz listed on the Bermuda Stock Exchange ("BSX™) and has operations in Bermuda and the Cayman Islands. The
registered office is located at 30 Vicloria Street, Hamulton, HM 12, Bermuda.

These conselidated financial stalements were approved by the Directors on July 24, 2013
Summary of significant accounting policies
2.1 Basix of preparation

The consolidated fnancial statements of the Company have bean prepared in accordance with Intemational Finaneial Reporting
Standards (“IFRE") and 1FRE Interpretations Committes {IFRIC) imerpretations applicable to companies reporting under [FRE, except for
the exclusion of comparative figures for the prior vear required by 1AS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”. The purposs of thess
financiad statements is to meet the reporting requarements of Rule 303 of Regulation 3-X of the Securities and Excliange Commission. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, with the exception of land and buldings
{see note 2.1.1), available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets and finanecial habalities, which are recorded at fair value through
profitor loss, The fmancial statements are presented in Bermuda dollars (8), which is the functional cumency of the Company.

The preparation of consohidated Bnancial statements in conforrmty wath IFES requares the wse of certain eriical accounhing estimates. [t
also requires management 1o exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company s accounting policies. The areas involving

a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant o the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed innote 4,

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
Asat March 31, 2005 the Comgany and its subsidianes have adopted a policy of revahuing land and mldings to market valee, in
aceordance with the fur value provisions of 1AS 16 *Property, plant and cquipment”. This is 4 change from the previous policy, under
which these assets were stated ot lastonic cost. The revaluation of land and buibdings within the Group’s consolidated balines sheet
provides shareholders with a more representative valoe than the histonc cost basis. This change in aceounting policy has not been
applied retrospectively.
The impact on the fimncial statements of thas change in accounting policy has been 1o
- increase the net ook value of land by 51,145,849 and baildings by 10,843,225 as at March 31, 2015,
* recomuize an exceptional charge agunst operting profit in respect of *losses on propenty revaluation” of 32,021,350,
Thas impairment reflects the difference for all assets where the for value of the assél os determinad by the revaluation as
at March 31, 2015 is below the net book valoue prior to the revaluation;
* reconize an exceplional gain in other comprehensive income of $14,01 0,424 reflecting the difference for all assets
where the fair value ofthe asset as determined by the revaluation as at March 31, 2015 is above the net book value prios
ter the revaluation;

- the impact of the above is & net increase in the value of land and buildings of $11,989,074 (sze note 17). This has been
booked s an increase on cost of valuation of 55,580,970 and a waite back of accumulated depreciation of 56,408,104,

New mind mimvinded stondarde adopted by tie Company

The following stanciarcs have been adopted by the Company for the first time for the financial year beginning Apnl 1, 2014 and have
an impact on the Company:

Ukfoucbing o Woeld' of Corptiore || EE¥TECH ANNUAL REPORT 2815



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

5

For the year ended March 31

Amendment to IFRS 8, Operating segments must include disclosure of judgments made by managerment aggregating segments, and a
reconciliation of segment assets when segment assels are reported.

Amendment to TAS 24, related party transactions, kas been amended to () revise definition ofrelated party” to inchsde an entity that
provides key management persomsel services to the reporting entiby or it parent, ane (i) clanfy related disclosure requirements.

New sfandards and inferprefations mal vel adoepted

A mumber of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations ane effective for anmial peniods beginming after April 1,
2014, and have ned been applied in preparing these consolidated Anancal statements. None of these is expected 1o have a sgnaficant
effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Company, except the following set out below:

Amendments to IAS 36, ‘lmpaimment of assets”, on the recovesable amount disclosures for non-financial assets, This amendment
removed certain Esclosunes of the recoverable amount of cash generating wiits (OGUsywhich had been included in 145 36 by the issue
of IFES 13, The amendment is not mandatory for the Company until Apnl 1, 2016

IFRS 9, “Financial instrumemts’, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities,
The TASE issued the completed version of IFRE @ in July 2014, IFRS 9 (2014) provides revised guidance on the classification and
measuremant of fnancial wsets and introduces o new expected eredit loss model for caleulating impairment. [FRS 9 (2014) also
incorporates B final general hedge accounting requirements ongmally published m IFRS 9 (2013). [FRE9 (2014) 15 efective for the
reporting period beginning on Apnl 1, 2018,

IFRS 15, “Reveme from comracts with cistomers’, was issued in May 20014 by the 1ASH and FASE, s converged standard on revenue
recognition. The standard will be effective for the reporting period beginmng on April 1, 2017, and will allow carly adoption. The standard
will improve the finaneial reporting of revenue and improve comparability of the top line in the financial statements globally. The Company
is yet to assess the fildl impact of IFRS 15 and intends to adopt the standard no later than the accounting period beginning on April 1,
2017,

There are no other [FRSs or IFRIC imterpretations that are nod ved effective that would be expected 1o have a matenial impact on the
Company.

11 Consolidation
fl  Bubsidiaries

Subsicharies are all entities over which the Company has control. The Company controls an entity when the Company 15 exposed to, or
has rights to, vanable retems from its involverment with the entity and has the abality to affect those rehems through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which contral is transfermed to the Company. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

The Company applies the acquistion method to sccount for business combanations. The comnsderation transferred for the acqusition ofa
subsidiary 1s the fiur values of the assets transferred, the habiliticsincurmed to the former owners of the acquires and the equity interests
issued by the Company. The consideration transfemmed includes the fair value of any asset or hability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabalities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initizlly at their fair values at the acquisiton date, The Company recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquires on an
acquistion-by-acquistion basis, either at fir value or al the non-controlling inferest’s proportionate share of the recogrized amounts of
acquires’s identifiable net assets.

Acqusition-related costs are expensed as ingured
Ifthe business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carning value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the

acquores is re-measured to far value at the scquisition date; any gans or losses ansing from such re-measurement are recogmzed in
profit or loss.

mog ||EEYTECH ANNUAL REFORT 30i% 8



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31

Anycontingent consideration to be transferred by the Company is recognized at fair valwe at the acquisition date. Subsecquent changes

to the fair value of the contingent consideration that 1s deemed to be an asset or liability 15 recognized in accordance with [AS 39 cither in
profitor loss or as a change fo other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that 1s classified as equity 1s not re-measured, and
its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the comsideration transfierred, the amount of any non-controlling imterest in e sequires and the acquisiion-date far value
ofany previeus equity intersst in the acquires over the fur value ofthe dentifiable net assets aequired, 15 recorded as goodwill. 1M the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognized and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the
nit assets of the subsidiary acquired inthe case of a basgain purchase, the difference i1s recognized directly in the ineome statement.

Intereomprany transactions, balances, income and expenses on transpctions between subsidiaries are elindnated. Profits and losses
resulting from intercompany transactions that are recogmized in assets are also chinumated. Accounting policies of subsidianies have
been changed where necessary 1o ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Company:

The conselidated Gnancial statements inclode the financial statements of the Company and its whelly owned subsidianes: Loge
Commamications Lid (“Logic™), WestTel Linited (irading as Logic) (“Logie Cayman™), Bermads Yellow Pages Limited (“BYPF),
KeyMenagement Services Limited ("KME"), Cable Co. Ltd (*Cable™) and Cedar Cable Ltd. (*Cedar™), {joinly “Cable Co."). The
consolidated finanecial statements include the Company’s interest in Cablevision Holdings Limited {“CHL" } and its subsidiary
Bermmeds Cablevision Limated (“BCL") from September 3, 2014, whereby the Company has an 84.6% interest (priof to this is
was included in investrents in associates), and Yabsta (BVI) Limited (“Yabsta™), whereby the Company has a 51% interest. The
Company’s previous 100% interest in The Bermuda Telephone Company Limited {"BTC"} is classified as a discontinued operation
following is disposal on Seplember 3, 2015, see nole 28,

(B Charges i ownerslip iiterests i sibsidimies withont change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result inless of control are accounted for as couity transactions — that is,
as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired ofthe carmying value of net assets of the subaidiany is recorded in equaty. Gains or losses on disposals 1o
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

(o) Disposel of subridiories

‘When the Company ceases o have control any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its Gor value af the date when control
15 lost, with the change in carrying amount recognized in profit or loss. The fudr value is the initial carmying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting  for the refained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, anmy amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive ineome in respect of that entity are accounted for as ff the Company had direcily
disposed of the related assets or habilities, This may mean that amowmits previously recognized in other comprehensive income are
reclassafied to profit or loss

(ot Associates

Associates are all entities over wideh the Company has significant influsnce but not control, generally sccompanying o sharcholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounbed for using the equity methed of aceounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognized at cost, amnd the carmying amount is increased or decreased to
recopmize the investor's share of the profit or loss of the investes after the date of acquisition. The Company’s investment in
associates includes goodwill identified on acquasition

If the ownershap interest inan assoctate is reduced but signficant influence 1s retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recogmized in other comprehensive income s reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Company’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss 15 recognized in the income statement, ad its share of post-acquisition
mewements in other comprehensive income is recogmized in other comprehensive income with a cormesponding adjustment to the
carying amount ofthe investment. When the Company’s share of losses inan associate equals or exceeds its inferest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Company does not recopnize firther losses, unless ithas ineurred legal
of constructive obligations of made paviments on behalf of the associate,
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The Company determines at cach reporting date whether there is any obpective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Company caleulates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes the amount acdacent 1o “share of profit / (lessh of associates in the income
statement,

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Company and its associale are recogndzed
in the Company™s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's interests. in the associates. Unrealized losses are
eliminated unless the tramsaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates
lave been changed where necessary to ensurg consisteney with the policies adopted by the Company.

Dilution gains and losses ansing in investments in associates are recognieed inthe income statement.

13 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent with the intemal reporing provadad to the chuel operating decision-maker.

The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been dentificd as the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officerand members of the Beard of Directors, whe make decisions
about resourees 10 be allocated to the segment and assess its performance. Refer to note 5.

24 Forelgncurrency translation
fer) Fravre tiownael evind preeseniafion cueiey

Items included in the fnancial statements ofeach of the Company’s entities are measured using the cumency of the primary economic
environmen in which the entity operates (“the functional cumency™). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Bermuda
dollars (BMD), which 1z the Company’s presentation currency.

b} Transactions and balances

Forcign currency transactions are translated into the functional cumrency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates ofthose
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Monetary assets and liabilitics denominated in foreign curmencies at the
reporting date are translated to BMD at the rates of exchange rding on that date. Gains and losses arising from fluciuations. in
exchange rates are recogmzed in the consolidated statement of comprelensive income. Foreign curmency losses for the yvear ended
March 31, 2015 were $35,661.

MWon-monstary assets and liabilities denomimated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value and are ranslated to BMDat foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the values were determined.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, all foreign ewrmency gains and losses recognized inthe consolidated statement of
comprehensive income are treated as cash items and incheded in cash flows from operating or financing sctivitics along with
movements in the relevant balanees,

L5 Property, plant amd equlpiment

Land and buildings comprise mainly offices and network facilities, Land and dldings are shown at fair value, based on valuations by
external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for builldings, Valwations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure
that the fiar value of o revalued asset does not differ materially from its camying amount. Any sccumulated depreciation ot the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross camying amount ofthe asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the
asseh. All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
direcily aftributable o the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash
Now hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included inthe asset’s carrving amount or recogmized as a separate assed, as appropriate, only when 1t is
probable that fuhme sconomic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The camrying amount of the replaced part 15 derecognized. All other repairs and maintemance are charged to the income
statement duning the fnancial period in which they are ingurred.
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Ciosts incwrred relating to plant under construction are capitalized and held wnamortized within “plant wder construction” until such
time as the asset is substantially complete, at which time the asset is commissioned and amostized over it useful life.

Land 15 not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is caloulated using the straight-line method 1o allocate their cost or revalued
amounts to their residual valwes over their estimated wsefil lives, as follows:

Bualdings Al - ¥ years

Bnsldings leased under capital lease 50 years (or lease term if shorter)
Fixtures 515 years

Plant and ficilities 4 = 2 years

Submaring calle system 15 years

Machinery and equipment 3 - 14 years

The assets” residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropnate, at the end of cach reporting peniod.

Anasset's camying amoumnt is wiitten down immediately to its recoverable amount ff the asset’s camying amount is greater than its
estinefed recoverable amount (note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by companng the proceeds with the carmving amount and are recognized within
*Other (losses) / gains = net” in the income statement, which is Nil for the fiscal year ended 2015.

Lo Intangible asscls
fr) Crovaril!

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidianes and represents the excess ofthe consideration transfierred, over KeyTech Limited's
interest in the fuir value of the identifiable net assets, liabdlities, the amount ofany mon-confrolling interest in the acquiree and ihe
aciuosition date fur value ofany previous equity inferest in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impaimment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combimation is allocated to each of the cash generating
units (CGUs), or groups of CGUs, that 15 expected 1o benefit from the synergies ofthe combanation. Each wnit o group of units
te whach the geodwill 15 allocated represents the lowest level witlanthe entity at which the goodwill is momtored for intemal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken anmually or mose frequently if events or changes in eircumstances indicate & potential
impairment. The carmying value of goodwill 1s compared to the recoveralle amount, which is the higher of value in use and the far
value less costs to sell. Anyvimpaimment is recogmzed immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

b} Inelefearible right of wse (TRUT)

IRUs are initially recorded at cost and amortized over the useful economac lifi to the estimated residual value and reviewed for
impairment when indications of impaimment exast. Any permanent impairment of the valse 15 charged to camings in the year the
impairment is recognized. TRUs have finite useful lives and are carred at cost less scoumulated amortization. Amortization is
calculated using the straight-line method 1o allocate the cost of the [RU over the estimated usefll life, which is 10 - 15 years,

fe}  Computer saffware
Costs associated with maintaining comgaer software programs are recognized as an expense as incwred. Development costs that

are directly atributable 1o the design and testing ofidentifiable and unigque software products controlled by the Company are
recopmzed as infangible assets when the Following enteria are met:

- itis techmcally feasible to complete the software product =0 that it will be available for use;

. management infends 1o complete the software product and use or sall i,

= heere is an abilityto we or sell the software product;

. itecan be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economac benefits;

* adequate techmdcal, fimancial and other resources to complete the development and to uwse or s2ll the software
product are available; and

* ihe expenchture attnbatable to the software product duning its development can be reliably measured,
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Dnrecily attnbutable costs that are capitalized as part of the software product include the software development employee costs and
an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expencinires that do not meet these ecniteria are recogmized as an expense as incumed. Development cosis
previowsly recognized as an expense are nol recogmized as an asset ina subsequent period

Computer software development costs recopmized as assets are amortized over therr estimated useful lives, which does not excecd
| 5 wears,

1.7 Tmpairnent of non-financial assels

Assets that have an indefinite usefil hife - for example, goodwill or intangible assets not ready to wse = are not subject to
amorization and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject (o amortzation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events of changes in cirewmnstances indicate that the carmying amount may not be recoverable, Animpairment 1oss is recognized
for the amount by which the asset’s camrying amount exceeds its recoverable amomt. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
nsset’s fur value less costs to sell and value inuse. For the purposes of assessing impainment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash fows (cash-generating umts). Pror impanmnents of non-finaneial assets (other
than goodwill) are reviewed for possible reversal at cach reporting date.

L8 Mon-current assels (or disposal groups) held for sale

Mon-current asscts {or disposal groups) are classificd as assets held for sale when their carmang amount 15 1o be recovered principally
through & sale transaction amd a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount and Fair valoe
less costs o sell,

19 Financkal assets
2.9.1 Classification

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categones: loans and receivables, and available for sale. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were soquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recogmnition.

e} Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-denvative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in cwrrent asseis, except for matunities greater than 12 moaths after the end of e reporting period
These are classified a2 nonecurrent assetz. The Company™s loans and receivables comprise “acoounts receivable, “loan receivable”
and “cash amd cash equivalents” inthe balance sheet (notes 2.14 and 2.15).

M Advailable-forsale fimmneil assots

Available-for-sale Anancial assets are non-denvatives that are aither designated in ths category or not classified in any ofthe other
categonies. They are included in non-curment assets unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within
12 months of the end of the reporting period. The Comgramy’s available-for-sale financial assets comprise marketable securities.

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases amd sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade-date ~ the date on which the Company commats to
purchase of s¢ll the asset, lnwvestments are initially recognized at fair value plus tramsaction costs for all financial assets not carmed at
fair value through profitor loss, Financial assets are derecognized when the nights to receive cash flows from the investments have
expared or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantinlly all risks and rewards of ownership. Avadlable- for
sole financial assets are subsequently carmed of fur value. Loans and recervables are subsequently camed at amortized cost uang
the effective interest method.
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Gains or losses anising from changes in the fair value ofthe “financial asscts at fair value through profit or loss” category are
presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income withininvestment income in the period in which they
anse. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or less is recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive ineome withininvestment income when the Company’s nght to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary secunties classified as available for sale are recogmzed in other
comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value sdjustments recognized in other
comprehensive income are included in the statement of comprehensive income as “finance income".

Interest on available-for-sale secunties caloulated using the effective interest method 15 recognized inthe statement of
comprehensive income as part of investment income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognized in the
statement of comprehensive income as pan of investment incomse when the Comgany”s right to receive payments is established

210 Offsenting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilitiesare offset and the net amemt reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforeeable
right to offset the recogmized amownts and there is an intention to sefile on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liabality
simultaneously.

2,11 Impairment of linancial assels
(n)  dssets carvied at omortized cost

The Company assesses at the end of cach reporting penod whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 1s impaired. A
financial asset is impaired and impairment losses are incumed only if there is objective evidence ofimpaimment as a resalt of one or

mere events that occurred afler the initial recogmition of the asset (o “loss event”) amd that less event (or events) has an impact on
the estimated future cash fowsof the financial asset that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impainment msay inclwde indications that the debiors of a Company of deltors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinguency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter banknptey or other fmsancial
reorganization, and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated fiture cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrving amount
and the present value of estimated futere cash fows{exeluding fture credit losses that have not baen incwred) discounted at the
financial asset’s oniginal effective interest rate. The camrying amount of the asset is redwced and the amount of the loss is
recopnized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. If a loan has a vanable interest rate, the discoamt rate for
measunng any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the coniract. Asa practical expedient, the
Company riay measume impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fuir value wang an olservable market price.

IE, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
ocoiEring after the impairment was recogmzed (such as an improvement in the debtor's credst rating), the reversal of the previously
recopmized impaiment loss is recogmnized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

bl Assers elassified as svailable-for-sale

The Company assesses ol the e of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
fimancial assets is impaired. For debi securities, he Company uses the riteria referred to in (a) above, Inthe case of equity
investments classificd as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fiir value of the security below its cost 15 also
evidence that the assets are impaired. Iany such evidence exasts for available-for-zale financial assets, the cumulative loss -
measured as the difference between the acuisition cost and the cumment fair value, less any impaimment loss on that financial asset
previously recogmized in profit or loss — is removed from equity and recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in
consolidated meome statement on ¢qaty instneEnents are not reversed through the consolidated income statement

" d
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IE in & subsequent period, the fair value ofa debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be
objectively related to an event ocoumng after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed
through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

2,12 Deferred cosls

Costs incurred directly relating to the publication of the annual directory are deferred and recogmzed as expenses at the date of
publication. Defered production costs of 31 918,938 are included in prepaid expenses and other curment assets in the
consolidated balance sheet. Refer tonote 15

2.13 Materkals

Muterials, consisting ofitems held for resale and pans and consumables, are recorded at lower of average cost and estimated net
realizable value,

2. 14 Accounts receivable

Accounts reccivable are amounts dug from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in e orcinary cowrse of
business. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as cument assets. I not, they are presented as non-curment
assets.

Accounts receivable are recognized mitially at fur value and subsequently measured ot amortized cost using the effective inferest
method, less provision for impairment.

2,15 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposit held at call with banks,
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafte In the consolidated
balance sheet, bank overdrafts are shown on the face of the conselidated balance sheet in current liabilities.

2,16 Share capital

Ondinary shares are classified as equity. Mandatorily redeemable preference shares, which have been redeemed, are classified as
liahilities
Incremental costs directly attnbatable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction from the

proceeds.

Where any company subsiciary purchases the Company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, incuding
any dircetly attnibutable ineremental costs 15 deducted from equity attnbutable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares

are cancelled or retssued. 'Where such ordinary shares are subsecuently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly
attmbitable incremental transaction costs, 18 included i equity attributable to the Company's equity holders.

2.17 Accounts payable
Accounts payable are obligations o pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilitiesil payment is due within one year or less, [Wnot, they are presented

a5 nonecurrent liabilities.

Accounts payable and other payables are mitially measured at fair value and subsequently carmed at amortized cost. They are
classified as other liabilities at amortized cost

2,18 Borrowings
Borrewings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transzction codts incwmed. Bomowings are subsequently carmed at amortized

cost, any difference between the proceeds (et of transaction costs) and the redemgtion valwe is recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprelvensive incoms over the period ofthe bormowings using the effective interest method,
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Fees paid on the establishment of loan fecilities are recognized as wansaction costs ofthe loan to the extent that it is probable tha
some or all of the facilty willbe drawn down. Inthis case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down oceurs. To the extent there 15 no
evidenee that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capatalized as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it relates,

Preference shares, which are mandatonly redeemable on o specific date, are classified as halalities,
2.1% Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs ane recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred,

2.20 Emploves bemelits

The pension and retirement plan and other post-employment obligations relating to BTC retirees was disposed ofas part of the sale
of BTC during the year ended March 31, 2015.

Employes benelits, compnsing net pension liabilities included in these financial statements, have been actuanally determined by a
qualified independent sctuary, appointed by management.

The retirement augmentation obligation was a fxed Anancial stipend 10 reftiress which would increass with general inflation. The
expested costs ofthese benefits ware acerved over the penied of emplovment usng the same secounting methodology as used for
defined benefit pension plans. Acthuarial gains and losses ansing from expenience adjustments and changes in actuanal
assumptions were charged or credited to equaty in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arose. These obligations
ware valued anmslly by independent qualified actuaries,

2.21 Providons

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuning costs and legal claims are recognized when: the Company has a present
legal or constrective obligntion as a result of past events, itis probable St an outllow of resources will be required to seftle the
obligation; and the amount has been rehiably estimated.  Restruchring provisions comprise employes lermunation payments.
Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.

‘Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelilwod that an owiflow will be required in setilement is determined by
considening the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included m the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a rate that
reflects cumment market assessments of the tme value of money and the nsks specific to the obligation. The inerease in the provision
due to passage of ime 15 recognized as inlerest expense.

2.22 Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenues as it provides serviees or delivers products to customers. Billings for telecommunications
services (inchuding fixed line, broadband and inemet access billings) are made on a monthly basis. Unbilled revenues from the
balling ¢yele date to the end of sach month are recognized as revenue dunng the month the serace is provided. Revenue is
deferred in respect ofthe portion of fixed monthly charges that lave been billed in advance, Reverme from installations and
connections are recognized upon completion of the installation or connection.  Revenue from equipment sales 15 recognized upon
delivery of equipment to the customer

Where multiple products or services ane bundled together on sale, revenue is allocated to cach glement in proportion to its far value
and recognized as appropriate for that element. Revenue is recognized fo the extent fhat it is not contingent on the provision or
delivery of a future service,

Amounts received in advance of publication of the annual teleplone directory for advertising =old are shown as uneamed income in
the consolidated balanee sheet and are recogmzed as income at the date of publication. Revenues and expenses related to the Ttermet
directory senices are recogmzed ona pro rata basis over the life ol the contract.

h
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Revenue for other services is generally recogmized as services are performed.

During the year BCL madz an insurance claim for dameage suffered from humicans Gonzalo, totalling £3.5m after deductible, with
associated costs in respect of impaired and diminished assets and other cosis of $1.4m. Renmining assets wialling £2.5m witha
diminished useful lifewill be recopnized through adjusted usefid life

2,23 Interest income

Interest income 15 recogrized usng the effective interest method. When a loan and receivable 15 impared, the Company reduces
the carrying anwint bo s recoveralde amound, being the estimated future cash Now diseounted ol the engimal effective interest rate
of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discoumt as interest income. Interest income on impaired loan amd receivables is
recogmized using the onginal effective imerest rate.

2.24 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the nght to receive payment is established

225 Leases

Leases in which a sigmficant portion of the nsks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases, Payments made uwmnder operating leases {net ofany incentives received from the lessor) are clarged to the statement of
comprehensive ineome on o straight-line basis over the peried ofthe lease

The Company leases certmin property, plant and equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Company has
substantially all the msks and rewards of ownership, are classified as finance leases, Finance leases are capitalized at the lease’s
commencement af the lower of the fair value of the leased propenty and the present value of the mininum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finanee charges. The comesponding remtal obligations, net of finance
charges, are included moother long-term payables. The interest clement ofthe finance cost is charged to the statement of
comprehensive income over the lease period 50 as o produce a constam penodic rate of interest on the renmining balance of the
liability for cach period. The property, plant and equipment scqured under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the
usefisl lific of the asset and the leass term.

2.26 Dividend disiribution

Davidend distribution to the Company’s shareholders 1s recognized as a labality in the Company’s fnaneial statements in e period
in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s Board of Director’s.

2,27 Exceptional items
Exceptional items are disclosed separately in the financial statements where it is necessary 0 do so to provide further
umderstanding of the financial performance ofthe Company. They are material items ofincome of expense that have been shown
separately due to the significance of their nahure of amount.

3. Fimanclal risk management
31 Financial risk factors
The Comprany’s activities expose it to a variety of financial nsks: market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), eredit
nsk and hquidity nsk. The Company’s overall nsk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and

sezks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance,

Seruor management has resporsbality for mansgang the Company’s nsk and reports o the Board of Directors any signi ficant 1ssues,
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ferd Marker #isk

Market risk is the risk that clanges in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Company's
income or the value ofits holdings of financal instruments. The objective of market nsk management is (o manage and control
market risk exposures within aceeptable parameters, while optimizng the retum on assels,

(i) Forgign currency sk

The Company incurs foreign cureney risk pnmanly on purchases and bomrowings that are denominated in & curreney other
than the Bermuda and Cayman dollars. However, foreign currency nisk is minimeal, due to the fact that the Bermuda dollar is
pegged tothe US Dollarat a 121 rate and the Cayman dollar is pegged to the US Dollarat an exchange rate of | fo 1,218,

(i) Price risk

The Company 15 exposed (o equity sscunties price nisk because of investments held by the Company and classified on the
consolicated balance sheet as available-for-sale, The fair valwe of available-for-sale investments is determined by neference to
their quoted market prices. The Company intends 1o hold these investments for a period longer than one vear,

The Company has reviewad all svailable-for-sale inwestments held ot March 31, 2005 for evidence ofimparment and las
determined that there is no impaimment as at March 31, 20015 and there ars no indicators of significant or prolonged decline in
the value ofthe assets,

Asgessment by the Company of evidence of impairment involves the wse of estimates as disclosed in note 4, If impairment is
determined, the amount of such impairmeant 1s removed from acoumulated other comprebensive income and reconded in net
income for the reporting period

A10% movement in fur values of the avalable-for-sale investmeants would impact other comprahensive imcome as follows:

015
10% inerease in fur values 3 110,055
10% decrease in fair values 3 (110.955)

10%% was estineted by management as an appropriate threslold for sensitivity testing based on average price movements on the
Bermuda Stock Exchange overa 12 month period.

(niip Cash flow and fair valwe interest rate risk

The Conmpany’s interest rale risk anses from long-lerm borrowings. Bomowings issued ol vanable rates expose e Company to
cash Mow interest rate nsk which 13 partially offset by cash held at varable rates. During 2015, the Company’s borrowings at
variabde rate were denominated in USD.

On April 25, 2013 the Company entered into a lending agreement withits Lender o fimance the amalgarmation of North Rock
The Company wias required 1o develop an imterest rate hedging strategy as part of the lending agreement. The Company
hedged 30% of its total lean amownt, $8, 230,000, through a Meating-to-Axed interest rate swap (“Swap™), The Swap was
murchased on April 30, 2014 and will expire on April 30, 2018 from the Lender, No premivm or fee was charged to enter the
Swap.

Settlement of the Swap is linked to the interest charging period on the wnderlying debt, three months, The Liborrate was fised
at | 966%s at the beginning of the charging period and for settlement, at the end of the peniod. I the Libor rate for that period is
higher than the fixed rate of interest under the swap, then the Lender pavs the net &fference. Equally, if the Libor rate is bower
than the agreed fixed rate of inderest under the swap, then the Company will compensate the lender for the difference. As at
the end of the current vear there was no unrealized gain or loss recorded. The swap 15 valued wsng level 2 inputs.
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(B Credit risk

Credit nsk is managed on group basis, except for credit nisk relating to accounts receivable balances. Each local entity is
reaponsible for managing and analyzing the credit risk for each oftheir new and existing clients before standard payment and
delivery terms and conditions are offered. Credit nsk anses from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and Bnancial
institutions, credit exposures to wholesale and retail customers, including owtstanding receivables and cormitied transactions, as
wellas loans receivable from assockates. Management deems the credit risk associated with the loan to be minimal. For banks and
financial institutions, counterpartics who have minimal risk of credit default and are rated by Standard & Poor's with credit ratings of
between A-amd Aare used, IF wholesale customers are independently rated, these rtings are used. Il there is no independent
raling, senior management azsesses the eredit quality of the customer, taking inlo sccoun its fnancial position, past experience and
other factors. Individual nsk limits are set based on internal or extermal mtings in accordance with limits et by the Board of
Darectors. The utilization of credit limits is regularly monitored. Sales to retail customers are setiled in cash or using major eredit
cards

Management does nol expect any losses from non-performance by these counterpanties.
fed Eicueidity risk

Liquidity nsk, also referred to as funding nisk, is the nsk that the Company will encounter difficnlty in raising funds to meet
commitments associated with financial instruments, Liquidity fisk may result from an imability to 2l a financial asset quickly at
o close toits fair value. Prudent liquidity nsk management implies maimtaimng sufficient cash and marketable securities and
ensuring the svailability of funding through an adequate amount of committed eredit faalities. The Company ainmes al maintuning
fexibility in funding by keeping lines of funding availabe with relevant suppliers, bankers and related parties, soureing appropriate
cumency holdings to match liabilities and purswng prompt payment policies.

Asat March 31, 2015 the carrying amount of the bank overdrafl Beility, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, foreign tax liabilities and
amounts due to related companies are equal to the contractual cash flows of the same,  All are short-temmn in nature and dve within a peniod
of 12 months

The table below analyzes the Company”s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupangs based on the remaiming period at the balance
sheeat date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than

205
Levithan 3 monibn  Brémeend menth.  Beewend and Eyears  Briwern 2 and § yrars Chver § yean
amd 1 yoar
Bamowings 5 - SAIRSTL HAWATY $19,264,713 SHI2EST
Aceounts payable and otho lialnhtics TI23 444 1504 39 - a -
FTETETT 5,002,060 AT 10,264,713 TH 28T

3.1 Capital management:

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Conpany™s ability to continue as a going concern in order 1o
provide retuns. for shareholders and benefits. for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capatal structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order o mantain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, retum
capatal to sharehobders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debit.

Changes were made to the Company's dividends strategy during the year ending Mareh 31, 2005, refer to note 21. Shares were
issued as pan of ihe acquisition of BOTCAT, refer o notes 23 and 26
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For the year ended March 31

3.3 Far value estimation:

The table below analyzes financial instruoments carmied at fair value, by valwation method. The different levels have been identified

s follows
. Cuotedd prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).
. Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or labahity, cither directly (that
is, as prices) or indirectly (that 15, derived from prices) (Level 2).
. Inpaits for the asset or liability that are ned based on observable market data (that is, wmobservable inputs) (Level 3).
Level 1 Lavel 2 Level 3 Total
Awallable-for-sale financial assets 5 1,097 905 5 11,641 5 - 51,100 546

There was $11,641 transferred between levels 1 and 2 during the year because these investments are not actively traded

The camying value of the Company’s other financial assets and liabilities, including loans reccivable, accounts receivable, prepaid
expenses, invesdments in associates, accounts pavable, umeamed income and loans pavable, are comsidered to approximate their
fair value, The majonty of the Company’s loans receivable and pavable, and its subordinated deld, arose in September 200 4,

() Firrarrcial instrumeres in level 1

The fair value of financial instroments treded in sctive markets is basad on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly weailable from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
service, of regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occuming marketl ransactions en an anm's length
basis. The quoted market price used For financial assets held by the Company is the caument bid price. These instuments are included
in Level 1. Instruments included i Level | comprise pnmanly BEX equity mvestments clasgified as trading sscunties or available-for-
sale,

(b Financial istruments in level 2

The fuar value of fnancial instruments that are not traded inan active market s determined by using valuation techinigques. These
valuation techniques maximize the use of observable market data where it is avadlable and rely as little ns possible on entity specific
cstimates. I all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

IFone or more ofihe signaficant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in Level 3,

Specific valuation techniques wied 1o value financial instruments include;

. Cuoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments,

- The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated fiture cash flows based on
observable vield curves;

. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined wsang forward exchange rates at the balance sheet
date, with the resulting value discounted back to present valwe;,

. Other fechnigues, such s discounted cash Row analysis, are wsed 1o determming fair value for the remaining financial
st

(e} Firnaeial insirgments in level 3

Duiring the vear ended March 31, 2013 the Comgary puschased 27,000 shares in Bernmada Cablevisaon Lid. for $342,056, These
have been removed from level 3 financial nstruments dunng the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 as Bermuda Cablevision is fully
conselidated in the financial statements.

4. Critical ting catimates and judgments
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, inchading expectations of
firtwre events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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For the year ended March 31

4.1 Critical sccounting estimates and judgements

The Company makes cstimates and assumplions concemuing the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by defimtion, seldom
el the related actual results The estimates and assumptions that have a sgnificant risk of causing a material adjistment to the
carmying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial vear are addressed below,

(i} Alowance for impainnent losses on recefvables

In detenmining amounts recorded for impairment losses in the financial statements, management makes judgments regarding
indicators of impairment, that is, whether there are indlicators that suggest there may be o decrease in the estimated fature cash
Mlovws from receivables, for example, defoult and adverse economic conditions. Management alzo makes estimates of the likely
estimated future cash flows from impaired receivables as well as the timang of such cash fows. Historical loss expenence is applied
where indicators ofimpairment are nod observable on individually significant receivables with similar characteristics, such as eredit
raks.

(B} Net realizable value of materials

Estimates ofnet realizable value are based on the most reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are made, of the amount
the materials are expected to realize. These estinates take into consideration fuctuations of price of cot directly relating to events
oecurring afler the end of the peried, to the extent that such events confim conditions existing at the end ofthe period

Estimeates of net realizable value also take imto consideration the pagpose for which the materials are beld,
(e} Restdnal value and expected usefid 1ife of property, plant and equipment

The residual value and the expected useful lifeofan assst are reviewed at each Anancial year-end, and, if expectations differ from
previous estimates, the change is accounted for The useful lifeof an asset 15 defined in terms ofthe asset’s expected wtility to the
Comgany and its subsdianies. The recoverable amount of propenty, plant and equiprment is dependent upon managemwent's intemal
assessment of future cash fows from the individual asset or from the cash generating units to which the asset belongs. In addition,
the estimate of the amount recoverable from future use of those units is sensitive to the diseount rate used.

(eli Imprafement of fmvestmenis in assooiales

The carmyng value of mvestmants in associates 15 assessed forimparment using benchmark mulbiples of camings  before interest,
depreciation and amortization ("EBIDA") and discoamted cash flows of the Company, based on actual and forecasted results overa
period of up o five years. The discount rate and benchmark rultiples are assessed individually for each investment depending on
the natere of its business, maturity of the business and expected future revenue growth rates. I the recoverable value is less than the
carrying value of the imvestment in associate, an impairment expenss is recognized in the penied to reduce carmying value to its
recoverable value. The following are key assumptions used in the impaimment assessment caleulations:

Benchmark nultiples of ERIDA M2
Dascount rate applicd in cash Now projections e

(el Impadrment of goodwill and tenaigible asvers

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable value using valwe in use,
ofthe cash-gencrating units 1o which the goodwill and intangible assets have been allocated The cash generating unit fur value is
assessed using the discoumted cash flows of the cash generating unit, based on financial budgets approved by management over

a peniod of up to Aveyears with a terminal valwe at the end of the fiveyear pericd Tangibe assets are deducted from the estimated
caterprise value and the residual value is compared to the cammying value of goodwill and intangible assets. IWthe residual value is less
than the book carrying value of goodwill and intangible asséts, an impairment expenss is recognized inthe penod to reduce the
carrying value (o its recoverable amount. The following are key assumphions used in the impaimmen assessment caleulabions:

Benchmark multiples of ERIDA 50 -6.5
Dascoant rate applied in cash Now projections 9.5%
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Segment information

Reportable segments correspond to the Company’'s intemal organizational struchure. The Company operates the following reportable
segments, which are managed as separate business units, as they operate in different industries and require different market
strategies and technologies. The Company evaluates each segment’s performance based on its contribution to consolidated net income.
The accomting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in note 2,

Cablevision Holdings Lid. (“Cablevision™) - provides infernet access and dota internet products as wellas subseription television
services in Bermuda through its coaxdal and fiber network. Segment information is presented for 7 months since acquisition.

Legic Commumications Lid (“Logic”™) - provides a wide range of data internet products and services and long distance and local voice
EQTVIOUS.

WestTel Limited ftrading as Logic) (“Logic Cayman'™) — provides fixed wireless and wireline voice and data services and subscription
television services in the Caymen Islands,

Bermeda Yellow Pages Limated (“BYP") — provides pant, on-line directory and digital marketing services.

Cable Co. Ltd. (*Cable Co™) - provides intemational data services on its submarine cable sysiem betwesn Bermuda and the United
Slates,

Yabsta (BY1} Limited (“Yabsta™) — provides on-line scarch capabilitics, specializing in digital advertising.

The investments in associates have been aggregated under a single segment called “lmvestments in assocsates” and s related
disclosures are included in node @ of these fAnancial statements.

Segment infornution

CONTINUING OPERATIONS Cablevision Logic cwﬁ BYP  CableCo, Yabsta Total
Year ended March 31, 2015

Revermes fom edamal costomers 1039008 21882826 20353383 4273704 354856 S1,000 66306,767
Revermes from intemdl customers MAGF 1424227 53500 180319 1,705,003 ST0000 3440424
Dieprediation md amortization ARWETT JAGIETE 6003122 25372 2001076 251,733 15754556
Cpersting cxperses 14570666  18TIGI46 21366948 3055440 2762577 230,966 60696752
Scgmant income (loss) LOTLES0 133231 (T053167) 1373292 (270d4e0d) (3746800 (6704117
Scgment assets OG0 FT213655  TIMEL0 3230 18142418 1,006,034 168,303,85%
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For the year ended March 31

Reconciliations

Hevenues from external customers
Toral segmeant revenues from external customers

Mon-segment other revenue

Depreciation and amortization

Total segment depreciation and amorization
Mon-segment depreciation and amortization
Elimination of infer-company amomts

Operaling expenses
Total segment operaling expenses
Mon-segment operating expenses

Elimination of infer-company amounts

Profit for the vear

Total income (lossy for reportable segments
Bhare of income of associates

Finance costs

Gain on investoment

Lioss on property revaluation
Mon-segment other income
Mon-controlling intercsis

Loss on sale of subsidiary

Met proceeds on insurance claim
Mon-segment admimstrative expenses
Mon-segment amortization

Elirmnation of infar-company amounts

al Statements

2015

66,306,767
506,736

66,903,503

20135

15,754,556
1,424,301
£1,357,895)

15,820,862

2015

60,606,752
5,669,617
{3,276,070)

64,0590, 250

2015

(6, 704,117)
7,135,380
(3,216,251}
11,397 492
{1,473,245)
T67,005
126,554
{18.617,231)
2,144,352
(6,669.617)
(1,424,301 )
GoR 227

(15865,653)
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2015

Total assets
Total aszets for reportable segments 5 168,303 856
Goodwall 41,075,847
Mon-segment assels 166 88T B4
Segment assets of disposed subsiciary .
Elimination of infer-company  amounts {120.322,244)
5 246,945 263

Entity-wide information
The breakdown of revenue from all services is disclosed on the face of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The Company is domiciled in Bermuda and revemue from external customers in Bermauda is 345,953,384, Total revenue from other
countries iz $20,353 383 which is denved from the Logic Caymein operations in the Cavman Islands,

The tofal of non-current assets located in Bermuda is $159,452,667 and the total of such non-current assets in other countries
is 569 355674,

6. Salaries and employee benefit expenses and staff termination costs

2015
Salaries and other short-term benefits $ 19,961,551
Gross stall termunation costs 402,816
Emplover pension contributions 034,220
5 21,298 587
Salaries and employee benefit expenses per consolidated statement of 5 20,854,821
comprehensive income
Stafl termination costs per conselidated statement of comprehensive 443,766
ngome
5 21,298 587
T.  Generaland administrative expenses
2015
Administrative 5 4,652,639
Consultants and professional fees 4,526,087
Muarketing and selling 1,720,457
Bad debt expense (note 13) 1,380,058
Insurance 1,008, 500
g 13,287,750

B, Governmenl license fee
Certain subsidiaries ofthe Company are required to pay a license fee fo the Governments of Barmuda or the Cayman Islands, The

Government of Bermuda is paid a *Goveranent Authonzation Fee® (GAF) of 2.05% and a ‘Regulatory Authority Fee® (RAF) of 1.75%
oftofal gress revenue, less certain allowable deductions specified in its license. The Government of the Cayman Islands is paid a
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license fee based on 6% of revenes less certain allowable deductions specified in itz license. The license fees for the year ended
March 31, 2015 were approximately 52,881,423, which 1s included within government taxes, fees and levies inthe consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Ceddar i requited to pay anmeal regulatory fees to the Federal Conmumications Commission (“FOC™) in the United States for the
submarine ¢able. Fees are caloulated on a calendar year In the current vear, the Company meurred $163,900 in FOC fees,

Investments in associates

2015
At April 1 5 33,038,579
Share of operating profit 1432181
Interest charged 68,982
Amorhzation of intangibles (365,774)
Met share of income of associates 7,135,389
Purchase of addiional investments 10,660
Transfer of associate 10 subsidiary on gaining control (8,960,635)
Loan repayments and interest received (T04,983)
Dividends received (5,749, 235)
At March 31 13 257600775

The results of all three principal associates, and the aggregated assets (including goodwall) and liabilities are as follows:

Countriesol
incorporation Assets Liabilities Revenues et Profit
March 31, 2015 Bermuda g 52,310,211 % 13,8397 & 61,916,205 % 10,963,126

Set out below are the associates of the Company duning the year ended March 31, 2015 whicly in the opinion of the directors,
are matenal to the Company. The associates as listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, wiach are held
cirectly by the Company; the country of incorporation of registration is also their prncipal place of business.

CellOne

The Company held appeeximately 42% of the common shares of the CellOne, Effective May 2, 2011 the Company accounls for ifs
investment as an investment inassociate, wherehy the investment is recorded at cost, adjusted to recognize the Company’s share of
carmngs of losses of the amalgamated company and reduced by dividends received.

Cablevision Holding Lid. (*CHL™)

For the period April 1, 2014 to September 3, 2014 the Company reported its 4% ownership in CHL as investment in associate in
BCL. On September 3, 2004 the Company sequired the remaining 60% of CHL, see note 26, and effectively gained controd of CHL
and its underlying investment, BCL. For the remainder of the reporting period CHL has been consolidated as a subsidiany:

QV Holdings Ltd. (*QuoVadis”)
COneoWadis s a provider of managed secunty services, The Company owns an equity inferest in CuoVadis of approxamately 30%. The
Company has alse provided a subordinated loan to CuoWVadis of $500, 000 with an interest rate of 5% and no fixed repayment terms.
Repayment of the loan balance is subordinated to convenible preference shares owned by another shareholder, The loan is secured by
the assats of QuoVadiz.
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10 Finanee income and costs

2015

Finance income:
. interest income on shogi-term bank deposils & 32
. interest income on loan receivable 114,521
. interest income on available-for-sale Anancial assets 22,513
. dividend income on available-for-sale fnancial assets 55,094
193,050

Finance cosis:

. interest paid - long-term loan {1,310,745)
- adnumndistration expense - long term loan (562, 500
- interest on sub-ordinated debit (1,042,511)
- imterest paid - overdraft facility {654, 734)
- imvestment fees on avallable-for-sale financial assets (5,025)
- swap loss (130,736
(3,216,251)
Net finance (costs) income ] (3,023,201)

11. Earnings per share

Basic eamings per share is caleulated by dividing the profit attributable 1o equity helders of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue duning the vear excluding ordinary shares purchased by the Company and held as treasury

shares.

2013
{Lawss) Profit from oparations atinbutalde to owners ofthe parent £ (13,230,179)
Weighted average number ofordinary shares in issue 14,949 263
Earnings per share $ {0.88)

Daluted carmings per share is caleulated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion ofall dilutive potential ordinary shares. The company has 1,763,085 dilutive potential ordinary shares. See note 26.

2015
(Lass) Profit from operations attributable to owners of the parent & (13,230,179
Weighted average number ofordinary shares in issue 14,949,263
Adjustment for shares held for issue 1,763,085
Weighl»d average number of ordinary shares for dilwled 16,712,348
camings per share
Diluted camings per share from continued operations g {0.95)
Diluted samings per share from discontinued operations 016
Diluted camings per share from (loss) profit for the year 5 {079
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12. Cash and cash equivalents
March 31, 2015

Cash at bank and in hand (excluding bank overdraft) 3 T EedATee0
Short-term deposits 69,941
] 3717631

Cash and cash equivalents inchwde the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flows:

March 31, 2013
Cash and cash equivalents § 3,717,631
Bank overdraft (nete 209 (7794500
3 2,938,181
13. Accounts receivable
Dbarch 31, 2013
Trace receivables $ 7,658,905
Les: provision for impairment of trade receivables 2354 R52)
Trade receivables - net 5,304,053
Receivables from related parties 264,673
Oiher necevables 2844813
3 B413,530
The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was:
March 31, 2015
Gross Impairment
Mot past due 5 4316936 ¥ 44,940
Past due 31 — 60 days 493,382 40,338
Past due 61 — 90 days 383,000 133,668
Moge than 90 days 2.:065 587 2,126,904

$ 7458005 S @ —2I54ER
The meverment in allowance for doubiful debts in respect of trade reczivables dunng the vear was as follows

Muarch 31, 2015

Balance at bemnning of year 3 2,865,082
Elirmnated on disposal of subsidiany {1,334,717)
Provision for receivables impairment 083,621
Receivables watten off during the year as uncollectible (500,348)
Provision for receivables impainment upon business combinations 341,214
Balance at end of year 3 2,354,852
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The creation and release of provision for impadred receivables have been included in *general and adminisirative expenses” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income (note 7). Amounts charged to the allowance sccount are generally written off,
when there i1s no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The other classes withintrade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure 10 credit fsk ot the reporting date 15 the camving value of each class of receivables mentioned above, The
Company does not hold any collateral as security.

14. Materials
March 31, 2015

Voice equipment and accessories -4 31,424
Compufer equipment 1,845
33,260

Allowance -
3 33,260

The cost of matenals recogmized as an expense and included in “operations and maintenance expenses” was 3270535,

15 Prepald expenses and other current assets
March 31, 2015

Maintenance 13 BT0938
Deferred production costs (note 2.12) 1,918,938
Deposits for capatal projects™ -
Insurance 00673
Government baxes 60, 10
Oither prepaid expenses and cumrent assets G645 GO3

H 4,014,261

*In the prior vear Logic Cayman placed a deposit of YT $606 849 with a contractor for installation of fibre optic cables, The
deposit was repayable in full to Logic Cayman within 30 days of the contractual minimum of 1,398 000 having been reached.
De to recheced fiber aald the contract mimnmuums were not met and an agreement was made to settle for KYD $245,000
{BDA 5291 66T), Asa result the remaining deposit of KYD 5361849 (RDA $430,773) became part of fiber build cost and was
accordingly capitalized and amortized.

16, Avallable-for-sale Anancial assets
March 31, 2015

Balance al beginning of year - 1,451,833
Disposals (342,287)
13 1,109,546

Available-for-sale financial assets include equity securities of companies in Bermuda which are engaged in telecommumnications and
banking and are denominated in Bermuda dollars.
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17, Property, plant and equipment

[
March 31, 2004

Addisons

Tramsfizrs
Mbark: o ket
Disguosale | retmenments

Trasfiers o disposal of
subsichary

Busnes combinations

March 31, 2015

March 31, 2004

Crerpe fiwtheyer -
CONMERE ptinn:

Chergeforheyor -
disgontiued operalin
Mkt ket
Trarefiars on disposal of
absdiary
Blnirsited on degrorcals/
refirements

March 31, 2015

et b vadues:
March 31, 2015

Land Pedldings

Lieswal Under Buldings  Leswal Under Pl and Submarine  Machinery amd  Coapita wrk.
Land  Copltdl e i Fodres  Coapital Lisorse: Faditis  CableSydom Famipmmnt in progros Tt
% 3752402 1000000 50,642,003 B3L308  L46,TA5.B12 27074606 34ATS T2 11,037,060 175, 55007
GRS EE TR 219 81 5876022 120ATAR2

. - 10,719,024 (LTI9,024)
1,145,849 4435121 - - 5580970
(1,581,519) (45,941,122) = {146A810) (11,797455)  (3607.046) (210331552
910,394 17,120,159 18,030,503
1,215,585 BOR5321 - MSI3A0G 11,205,652 1674260 5250314
5442751 1LO0DC00 34 852,300 B MM 270NN A6 TT 4260272 153A708M
H 29 080 087 167,706 118,503,004 9,604,167 19369578 177,133 341
[RECARE 16428 303019 1,313,966 5153001 11392118
914,241 2 130,58 - 431,11 3475961
- (B, A0, 105) - - (64105
= BI90HRS3 - - - 2,190,853
= (28 450,343) - (120477 462) (B213,634) (157811435
4404847 184333 AB05A4% 11418033 16,040,157 IS0
$5ML750 51000000 §30367453 5047005 S2HMBIEN S15656,560  S30TMeI9 34201272 S1IR52v008

During the year endad March 31, 20015 management has determined that no impainment charges against property, plant and equipment

are recuired
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For the year ended March 31, 2015

15,

19.

Intangible assels

Cost:

Manch 31, 2014

Addisions

Elminsted on desposal

Busaness. combinaions

March 31, 2015

Amnortization:

Manch 31, 2014

Charge for e year confinuing operations.
Charge for e veur discontinued operations
Elzmirasted on disposals

March 31, 2015

Net books vahues:

March 31, 2015

Accounts payable and accrued lkabilites

Trade payables

Amouts due torelated parties
Accrued liabilities

Accraed payroll liabalities

Computer

Imibefensible software

right of use anil olher
{IRUs) intangible assels Condwill Todal
313362617 280645455 11,047 267 53,055,330
2971 386 2971 386
(B.360.556) [8.36(,556)
1,098 7 20,662,103 30,028,581 51,7205
14,392 434 43,918 385 41,075 848 PDIRG6T0
10,748 857 7,217,379 17,966,236
983333 345411 4428744
238382 238382
(3,666,558) (3,666,558)
11,732,190 7234614 18,966,804
3 Lo602# 3 36683774 5 41,075848 5 BOA19866

March 3, 2015

5 2,988,868
11,169

7,349,706

3,198,003

S 13,547 836
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Borrowings

Current March 31, 2013

Bank overdraft 5 TT9.450

Bank borrowangs 6,428,571

Prefierred share redemption amounts unclaimed 687116
7,895,137

Non-current

Buank borrowangs 35,357,143

Sub-ordinated debt A, T, (00

Tedal bomrowings 5 67,952,280

fur) Bank borrewings

The bank overdrafl is subject toa S5,000,000 limit, incurs interest expense ol o rate equal tothree month Libor plus 3% on ameounts
drawn and is secured by the Fixed and Floating Charge, os wellas the Joint & Several Guarantes from BCL, Logie, Cable and Cedar.

Toedal interest expenss in relation to the overdraft facilities was $64,734 for the year ended March 31, 2015 and

is included in finance costs in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The bank overdrall Bacility expired on April 25,

2015 and was renewed until October 31, 2015,

Bank borrowings mature in Seplember 2021, lave set terms of repayment and bear interest at the Liborrate plus 3.25% per annum,
Total interest expense in relation to bank bomowings was 81,310,745 for the year ended March 31, 20015 and is included i Bnance
costs i the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. See note 26 for fufther loan details.

Total bank borrowangs include secured labilities of USD 341,785,714, Bank borrowings are securad by the propenty and assets of the
fllowing subsachary compamies; Logie, Cable, Cedar, Chancery Holdings Limated, KevTech Holdings Limited (*KHL"), Wansunt
Company Limited, WestStar and Logic Cayman. See note 26,

l) Preferred share vedomprion anounts weclaimed
The Comgrany exercised itz nght 1o redeern the preferred shares effective November |5, 2003, Total muwber of preferred shares was
2613445, Asa result no preferred shares are now inissue. As at March 31, 2015, not all preferred shares had been presenied to

the Company in exchange for cash, The preferred shares do not aceme dividends beyond the redemption date.

fe) Subordirated debt

The Comgrany issued subordinate debt 1o finance the BOTCAT tramsaction on September 3, 2015, see note 26. The notes lave a term
of 6 years and may be repaid in part or in fill at any time within the term without penalty or the prior approval. The note bears
interest af a rate of 8% per anmum for year 1, 9% per anmimn for vear 2 and 0% per anman thereafber, Interest is pavable on Jume

30th and December 315t each year,
Dividends per share
The dividends paid for the first quarter of 2005 was §1,310,727 (30,09 per sharc). Atthe Board meeting held in September 2014, 5t

was resolved that dividends would be temporanily suspended for the quarters ended Seplember 20014, December 20014 and March
2015.

-
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al Statements

11, Pension and retiremont augmentation plan

The pension and retirement augmentation plan was dEaposed of during the wear ended March 31, 2005 as pant ofthe sale of BTC.

23 Share capital
March 31,2015

Authorized — 21,546,220 commeon shares of par value $0.25 each
Authorized — 2,61 5,445 prefemmed shares of par value $1 each
Issued and outstanding 15,224,745

Common shares 5 3806,197

All shares issued by the Company were fully paid
As part of the BOTCAT transaction, se2 note 26, the Company holds 1,763,085 shares for issue,  These shares will be issued on

March 3, 2016 at the prevailing market rate, provided there are no claims made against the transaction indemnifications. These
shares have been recorded as held for issue in equty at market rate on BOTCAT fransaction date.

24, Mon-controlling interests

On February 21, 2007 Yabsta was incorporated, whach is an on-line search platform, specializing in digital advertisang. Yabsta was
incorporated with the Company owning a 51% controlling interest.

Asa result of the BOTCAT transaction, se¢ nole 26, the Company acquired a further 60% of CHL and effectively gained control of
CHL and BCL. CHL has been consolidated as a subsidiary since acquisition.

Mon-controlling interests of $6,914,207 at March 31, 2015 in the consolidated balance shest are clasafied as equity but are
presented separately from the parent sharcholder's equity:

2015
AL april 1 3 534,866
Met (loss) income atinbutable to manenty sharcholder (126,554)
Mon-controlling interest on customear base intangble 1,958,222
Mon-controlling interest ansing on business combination 4,547,673
At March 31 13 6,914,207

15 Commdtments and contingencles

a)  Capital commitments

There are no commitments for capital expenditurne, for which no provision has been made i these financial statements, for the fiscal
years ended March 31, 2015,

-
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31

by Lease comumitments:

Unexpired commitments under operating lease agreements for the Company s premises, telecommunications capacity and equipment
are pavable as follows:

2015

Within 1 year 5 7.937 861
From 1 = 2 years 5,684,570
From 2 = 3 years 4,441,139
From 3 — 4 years 3,504,208
From 4 — 5 years 2,238,005
Over 5 years 8,372,172
$ 32,189,035

Lease payments under thess operating leases recognized within opesations and maintenance expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive incoms for the vear aggregated approximately $2,028,071

¢} Contingent liabilities:

There are no contingent liabilities to disclose relating to the fiscal years ended March 31, 2015
26, Business combinations

Durivg the year ended March 31, 2015

On September 3, 2004 Logic Cayman, deing business in Cayvman, acquired BOTCAT Holdings Lid. (*BOTCAT™), a company
incorposated in Cayman, fora tofal purchase price of $66,294, 750, pls 2,424,242 common shares of the Company issued oul

of the authorized share capital. OF these shares, 661,157 were issued September 3, 2004 and recorded at fair value at that date.
The remaining shares will be issued |8 months from closing at the prevailing market rate, provided there are no claims mads
against the transaction indenmifications. The remsining shares have been recorded as confingent shares in equity at markel rate on
acquisition.

BOTCAT owned WestStar TV, Lirmted (*WestStar™) in Cayman, which in tum owned an inferest in Cablevision Holdings Lirmited in
Bermuda. Following completion of the acquisition, the Company has a controlling interest of 84.6% in BCL and a 100% interest in
WestStar

The acquisition of BOTCAT was financed through debt and equity. The Company entered into a term loan facility agreement witha
local bank for a total of 45,000,000 (Tranche Aand Tranche B). The term loan facility sgreement is secuned by the assets of Logic,
Cabde, Cedar, Chancery Holdings Limited, KeyvTech Holdings Limited ("KHL™), Wansunt Company Limited, WestStar and Logic
Cayman. The term loan faclity has set terms of repayment and bears interest at the Liborrate plus 3.25% per annume In the case

of the Tranche A loan, anmal principal repayments of 54,375,725 are payable quarterly on each quarter end in equal amounts of
51,093,931 commencing December 31, 2014, In the case of the Trarkhe B loan, anmal panspal repavments of $2,052,846 are
payable quarterly on each quarter end in equal amounts of $513,212 per quarter commencing December 31, 2004, The maturity date
ofthe loan is September 2021,

The remaimng $24, 700,000 in debt Anancing was in the form of subordinated debt. The notes have a term of 6 years and may be
repaid in part or in fuldl at any tme within e term without penalty of the prior approval. The note bears interest at a rate of 8% per
aaurnen for year 1, 9% per annum for year 2 and 10% per annum thereafter, Interest is payable on June 3Mh and December 315t each
year.

-
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For the year ended March 31

The fellowmg table summarizes the consideration pard for BOTCAT, the fur value of asscts sequited and habalitics assumed.

Todal cash consideration % 41,594,750
Share consideration 10,303,028
Todal subordinated debi 24, TO0, 000
Todal consideration 5 76,597,778

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and linbilities assumed

Cash and cash equivalents % 1,181,777
Property, plant and equipment 3B.657,607
Intangible assets 1,020.817
Assets held for sale (CITN) 1,074,827
Trade and other receivables 053,830
Prepaid cxpenses 1,227,082
Trade and other payables (4,862,141)
Todal identifiable nel assels 5 39262 HOH
Customer base - CableVision 6,336,246
Customer base - WestStar 7,514,023
Goodwill - CableVision 9,222,349
Goodwill - WesiStar 14,262,352
Total 5 76,597,778

Acqusition-related costs of $2,190,461 have been charged to ollwr operating expenses in the conselidated statement of
comprehensive ineome for year ended March 31, 2015, The original holding in CHL has been revalued and as a result goodwill of
56,543,880 and other intangibles of $4,853,61 2 were recorded in the books

27. Relaled partics

The following transactions were camed out with related parties: 2015

fa) Youmrecord bolances avising frewn soles [ purchases of goods / sorvices [ 54673

Riceivables from related parties % 11.167
- Associabes

Payables to related parties: 5 A0 060
- Associates

Sales to related parties: % 74,523
- Azzooabes

Purchases from related parties:
- Associates

‘d

o
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al Statements

The receivables from related parties anise mainly from sale transactions and are dus one month after the date of sale. The
receivables are unsecured in nature and bear no interest. Mo provisions are held against receivabdes from related parties. Goods are sold based onthe
price lists in force and terms that would be avalable to third parties.

(bt Key management compensalion

Keymanagement includes Directors (executive and non-executive) and members of Senior Management. The compensation paid or
pavable to key management for emplovee services is shown below:

015
Salaries and other shom-term employes benefits 13 4,682,010
(¢} Loans to related parties

2015
Loans to associates:
AtApril 1 -3 1,401 685
Loan repayments received (70, 083)
Imterest charged 18,982
AtMarch 31 -3 715,684

715,684 were considered copital contribations to the associates and are included as “investmants in associates” on the
face of the balance sheet.

The promssory nede to CHL was repaad i fll dunng the vear ended March 31, 2005, Advances under the loan Bscility to QuoVadis
Iear imterest at 5% and are secured on the fixed and floating assets of QuoVadis, Interest relating to all associates loans 15 included as
a component of equaty eamings in associates in the consolidated statement of comprelensive income,

Mo provision wias reqqured in 2005 for the loans made to associates.

Dizcontinued O perations

On September 3, 2014 BTCwas sold 1o Barrie OpCo Limited for cash consideration of $25,000,000 and a promissory note with faee
vilue of $5,000,000, The promissory note was fally paid in June 2015, BTC resulis are presented in these financal stateaments as a
discontimued operation. The cash proceeds of this transaction were used o retire the Company®s existing debt relating to the Nonh

Reck transaction,

The net acoounting loss on sale was $18,307,232 plus $2200000 in foreign exchange fees, and was recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehansive income during the vear ended March 31, 2015

Cash received b3 25,000, (00
Lean receivable 5,000,000
Met assets of BTC on disposal (48,397,231 )
Loss on disposal - (18,397,231}

~
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Notes to C ated Fi al Statements

For the year ended March 31

The profit attnbutable to discontinued operations that 15 presented in the statement of operations at March 31, 2015 is made up as

follows:

2018
Operating revens -9 16,068,261
Oiperating expenses {14,221, 8200
Interest (119.96T)
Loss on disposal 5 2,626,474

29, Held for Sale Operations

Presented separately on the balance sheet are assets and labilibes held for sale that relate to the Cayman business umt CITN. An
agreement has been reached subsequent to March 31, 2015 to sell CITN assets amnd therefore the assets and liabilities are disclozed
separately in the eument year. See note 30

30, Ewvents after the reporting period

Om July 15, 2015 the Company completed a transaction through one of its subsidiaries which resulted in the Company now owning
100¥s of BCY creating a liability of £3.4m io acquire il minority interest, These payments are due as cerificates are presented by
previous nunosily shareholders.

On July 28, 2015 the Company sold all ofits assets related 1o the television production business in Cayman, which was acquared as
part of the BOTCAT transaction amd expect fo receive net progeeds of approximately $700,000 after associated costs.
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Executives and Officers

Mr. Llovd Fray
Chief Executive Officer

Ms. Leslic Rans, CPA
Clhiel Firaneial Oificer

Mr. Michael Tanglo
General Counsel
Secratary

Mr. Richard Lau
Chief Technology Officer

Mr. Philip 5. Harris
Director of Human Resources.

Common sharzs held by Dirsctars — 663,080,
Commens shares hedd by KeyTech Executive Manapement - 4 459
Horights to subscribe toshaes or debt szcurities inthe Company have been pranted to, or exercised by, any Directar, Officer or member of EeyTed Exeostive

Management

These arene ceatracls of apniicasce sebasting dwing o of the end +0the Ananasl year inwhich a Dirccter was mataally interested enther daectly ar indirectly,
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
(Unaudited) as at September 30, 2015 and March 31, 20135
September M), 2015

March 31, 2015

ASSETS
Current assels
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding bank overdraft) b 4,303,586 3,717,631
Accounts receivable 6,613,952 8,413,539
Materials 52,601 33,260
Assets held for sale - 048,471
Prepaid expenses and other cument asscts 2,161,654 4,004,261
13,131,793 17127,171
Non-current assets
Available-for-sale Anancial assets OB2179 1,100,546
Lioan recevable . 5,000,000
Property, plant and equipment 98,954,956 117,527,905
Investments in associates 27,504,468 25,760,775
Intangble assets 12,328, 458 B0 419,866
Todal assels 5 152,901,854 246,945,263
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accnead liabilities £ 11,056,947 13,547 836
Bank overdraft 1,564,982 779,450
Foreign tax liabilities 187,444 168,500
Interest payable 534,634 522,578
Uneamed income 4,557,127 5,000,008
Preferred share redemgption amounts unclaimed 652,637 687,116
Loan payable 6,428,571 6,428,571
Liabilities held for sale B 83,333
25,384,342 28,316,482
MNon-current liabilities
Loan payable 32,142,858 35,357,143
Sub-ordinated debt 24,700,000 24,700,000
Other long-term liabilities 1,868,230 -
Todal liabilities 3 84,095,430 88,373,625
EQUITY
Equity atiributable to owners of the parent
Share capital 3,806,197 3,806,197
Share premium 86,058,361 86,058,36]
Contributed surplus 22,196,339 20,994,716
Shares held for issue T.493.110 1493110
Other comprehensive income 14,281,605 14,389,751
Retained camings (67,267, 684) 18,915,295
66,568,018 151,657,431
MNon-controlling interests 2,238,406 6,914,207
Todal equity 68,806,424 158,571,638
Total liabilities and equity 3 152,901,854 246,945,263

The accompanpiap Aofer are an mizgral paer of these consolidaned fasncial siokwaly
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss

{Unaudited) for the six months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014

2015 2014

OPERATING REVENUES
Television reveres 5 20,224,563 5 -
Data reyvenues 18,326,891 13,863,853
Volce revenes 1,334, 207 1425017
Directory revenues 3,750,004 3,866,280
Harchware and software revenues 26,337 50,188
Other revenues 2355412 2,793,516

-3 46,017,414 L3 22,007,863
OFERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and employee benefit expenses 11,084,006 1,758,431
Staff termination costs 873,555 307,786
Operations and maintenanes expenses 18,523,903 8,100,053
Depreciation and amortization 10,631,510 4,438,243
General and administrative expenses 8,140,533 7,019,294
Government taxes, fees and levies 2,088,704 o1 7,053
Imgprairment of assets 33,069,257 -

5 {134,411, 471) 3 2R 540 862
Oiperating loss (88,304 057) (6,532,099)
Share ofincome of associates 3,350,200 4325472
Finance income 32,662 39,535
Finance costs {1,794,376) (1,146,545)
Gain (loss) on sale 595,174 (19,307,523)
Lass on revaluation of investment (19,3000 =
Mon-controlling interests 26,708 B4 404
Loss for the year from continuing operations 5 (86,182,980 5 (22,537,660)
DISCONTINUED OFERATIONS
Profit for the penod from discontinued operations . 2,626,474
Loss lor the period 5 (56,152,9%80) 5 (19,911,186)
Loss attributable to
Equity helders of the eompany (86,156,272) (19,826,782)
Mon-controlling interests (26,708) (84,404)

5 (B6,152,980) 5 (19.911,186)

Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations
attributable to owners of the parent

From conlinuing operations 5 (5.66) 3 (1.54)
From discontinued operations - 018
From loss for the pencd 5 {5.66) 5 {1.36)

The gecompanying rolts ore @8 Irfegral parf of there consolidated fnonciol statememnts



ONLGCEING A WORLD OF CONNECTIONS | | KT Sk Mk Byee 3315 I

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss (Continued)
{Unzudited) forthe six months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014

2015 2014
Loss for the period L3 (86,182980) % (19.911,186)
Other comprebensive (loss) income Tor the period:
Discontinued operations
Sale of subsidiary — defined benefit pension plan = 2,620,114
Sale of subsidiary — retirement augmentation plan - 484,081

3,104,105

Ttems that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Realized loss on available-for-sal e-inv estments 6,300 -
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale investments (114,356) 10,670
Other comprehensive (loss) income for the period ] (108,056} 5 3,114,865
Total comprebensive loss for the period 5 (86.291,036) 5 (16,796,321)
Total comprebensve loss attributable to:
Equity holders of the company (86,264, 328) (16,711,917)
Mon-controlling interests (26,7087 (B4.404)

5 (86,201 ,036) § (16,796,321)

Total comprebensive loss attributable to:
Continuing opermions 5 (86,291,036) 3 (22,526,990)
Discontinued opemiions - 5.T730,609

5 (56,291,036) § (16,796,321)

The secompanying noles are an infegrel part of these conmalidated frances) safemeras
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

{Unaudited) for the six months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014
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2015 2014
CASH FLOW PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
Operating activities
Loss for the peniod 5 (86,182,080) & (19,01 1,186)
Adjustments for:
Diepreciation and amortization 10,631,511 4,438,243
Bad debt expenses and impairment all owances GIRE20 314,986
Share ofincome of associates (3,350,209) (4,325.472)
Net interest cost on pension plan - T0,000
Met interest cost on post-retirement medical plan - 50,000
Profit for the yeur from discontineed operations - (2,626,474)
Impairment of assats 83,069,257 -
Changes in items of working capital:
Accounts receivable 1,439,675 1,581,732
Materials (19,332) 172,716
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,857, 0:0 E37,390
Accounts pavable and accrued liabilities (2,562,166) 1,589,494
Forsign tax labilities 18,944 13,784
Uneamed income (1,541,971) (1,699.234)
‘Waorking capital acquired on business combinations - 4,649,782
Met cash generated from discontineed activities - 6,025,382
Net cash generated from (used in) operating activities 5 31908,580 § (83,818,352)
Investing activithes
Repayments received on loans 1o associates - T04,983
Dividends received from associates 1,600,517 1,602,920
Sale (purchase) of available-for-sale Anancial assels 19,311 {10,554)
(Purchase) sale of property;, plant and equipment (6,130,583) 33,254,954
Purchase of imangible asseis (240,697) (8.369.571)
Property, plant and equipment acquired on business combinations - (27,466,705)
Intangible assels arising on business combinations 2 {27,038,613)
Purchase of non-controlling interest (1,605, 949) -
Loan repaid (arising) on business combinations 5,000,000 {5, 00, 0000
Net cash used for investing activities 5 (1,351,401) % (32,322.577)
Financing activities
Amoamt received on bomowing facality - 45,000,000
Amount paid on bomowing facility (3,214,286) {27, 500,000)
Amoamt received as subordinated debt - 24,700,000
Redemption of preferred shares (3,479 (1,515)
Dividends paid on common shares - (2,621,446)
Net cash (used) recelved Tor financing activities 3 (3.248,765) § 39,577,039
EE:H:] In!h mg.lh eqlﬁt;:l:r! Y 5 (601,577) 8 (1,563,8590)
e o L v OVErdrall -
Beginning of p:r':qtd 5 2938181 § 5,701,954
Cash and cash equivalents and bank overdraft - End of period 5 2336604 8 4,138,064

The secompanying notés are an integral port of these oo d financial
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
{Unaudited) for the six months ended September 30, 2015

1. The Company and its regulatory framewark

KeyTech Limited (the “Company™) is incorporated in Benmuda  wath limated liability inder the Companies Act 1981, The Company,
through its subsidianes aml associates, is a supplier of information and communications services, providing a wide range of data,
intermet, voice, and media services,

The Company is listed on the Bermuda Stock Exchange (“BSX7pand has operations in Bermuda and the Caynman lslands, The
registered office is located at 30 Videna Street, Hamlton, HM 12, Bernmuda,

2, Accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS") and IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations. applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepased wnder the historical cost convention, with the exception of land and buildings,
which were revalued to market valus on March 31, 2015, available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets and financial habilities,
which are recorded ot fuir value through profit or loss. The Gnancial statements are presented in Bermuda dollars (3), which is the
functional ewrrency of the Company.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires management 1o exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s sccourting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of udgment or complexaty, or arcas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed innote 3.

I accordance with IFRS, BTC results were removed from the Statement of Operations for 200 4/1 5 comparative financials.

3. Critical accounting estimates and 3 tions

Estimates and judgments are contimually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed 1o be reasonable under the circumstances,

31 Critieal accounting estimates and judgnent s

The Company makes estimates and assumptions conceming the future, The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the related setual results, The estimates and assumptions that have s sgmficant nsk of causing a material adjustment
to the carryving amounts of assets and lhabalities within the nestt financial year are addressed below.

ia) Allowance for inpairment lesses on receivables

In determmming amounts reconded for impaimment losses in the fnancal statements, mansgement makes judgments
regarding indicators of impairment, that is, whether there are indicators that suggest there may be a decrease in the
estimated fubure cash flows from receivables, for example, default and adverse economic conditions. Management also
mikes estimates of the likely estimated future cash Alows from impaired receivables as well as the timang of such cash
flows, Historical loss experience is applied where indicators ofimpairment are not observable on individuoally sign ficam
receivables with similar characteristics, such as credit nsks.

i) Net realizable value of mrateriols

Estimates of net realizable value are based on the most reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are made, of
the amount the matenals are expected 1o realize. These estimates take into consideration fuctuations of price or cost
directly relating to events occurring after the end ofthe period, to the extent that such evemts confirm conditions existing
at the end ofthe period.

Estimates ofnet realizable value also take into considaration the puarpose for which the materials are held
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Unaudited) for the six months ended September 30, 2015

il Residival valwe and expecied wsefil Tife of property, plans and equipment

The residual value and the expected useful lifeofan asset are reviewed ot each financial vear-end, and, I expectations
differ from previows estimates, the change is accounted for. The wsefial life of an asset is defined in terms of the asset’s
expected utlity to the Company and its subsidianies. The mecoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is
dependent upon management’s intemal assessment of future cash flows from the individual asset or from the cash
generating units fo which the asset belongs. In addition, the estimate of the amount recoverable from future use of those
umits is sensitive to the discount rate used.

) Impairment of inveshrents in associales

The camrying value ofinvestments in associates is assessed for impairment using benchmark multiples of earnings befone
interest, depreciotion and amorizstion (“EBIDA") and discounted cash flows of the Company, based on actual and
forecasted resulis over a penod ofup to five vears, The discount rate and benchmark mdtiples are assessed individually
for each investment depending on the nature of its business, maharity of the business and expected fiture revemue growih
rates. If the recoverable value is less than the camying valne of the investment in associate, an impaimment expense
is recognized in the period to reduce carrying value fo its recoverable value, The following are key assumptions used in
the impairment assessment calculations:

Benchmark multiples of EBIDA 5% -12
Discount rate applied in cash flow projections 8%

i Impatrment of gosdeill and itangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are impaired requres an estimation of the recoverable value using
value in use, of the cash-generating umts to which the goodwill and intangible asssts have been allocatzd The cash
gencrating wat fiar value is assessed using the discounted cash flows of the cash generating unit, based on financial
budgets approved by management over a period of up to five years with a terminal value at the end of the five year
peniodl.  Tangible assets are deducted from the estimated enterprise value and the residual value is compared to the
carrying value of goodwill and intangitle assets. IF the residual value is less than the book camying value of goodwill
and intingible assets, an impamment expense is recognizad i the perod to reduce the camving value 1o its recoverable
amount. Refer to Motz 9.

4, Segment information

Reportable segments comespond to the Company”s intemal organizational structure. The Company operates the following reportable
segments, which are managed as separate business units, as they operate in different industries and requite different market strategies
and technologies. The Company evaluates each segment’s performance based on its conimbution to consolidated net income. The
accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in note 2.

Bermmeda Cablevision Limited (trading as Logic Commmmications Lid) (“Logic™) - the company provides intemet access and data
intermet products as wellas long distance and local volce services and subserniption television services in Bermuda  through its coaxial
and fiber network services. Om July 16, 2015 the companies Logic Commumications Ltd. and Bemmuda Cablevision Limited merged.

WesiTel Limited (trading as Logic) (“Logic Cayman™) — provides fixed wireless, wireline voice and data services, and subscription
television services in the Caymsn [slands,

Cable Co. Ltd. (*Cable Co™) - provides intemational data services on its submarine cable system between Bermuda and the
Umited States.

Bermuda Yellow Pages Limited ("BYF) = provides print, on-line directory and digital marketing services.
Yabsta (BVT) Limited (~Yabsta™) = provides on-line search capabilities, specialiang in digital advertising.
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{Unaudited) for the six months ended September 30, 2015

Segment information
CONTINUING OPERATIONS Logke — Pos- sxgneesd

Cayman Cible Ct. VP Yalnia o Tatal
Stz manths ended September 30, 2015
Revenies from edemal cstomers. $27,742.245 £13,785,571 S2I25 E1TSREN £24,000 S463,723  SIG0IT414
Pevenies frem Btemal custonnes 556992 26,760 1013171 20,504 30,000 : LETETTT
Digrecition and mnatizstion 4911354 447241 1,053,017 14301 125,857 479,720 10,631,510
Opemating experses 479,755 12,130,669 1,415,560 3,050,585 73,197 1,551,938 40710704
Segrnent incon (ke 908,118 (2374,579) (1,212,15%) TAZ5H (145064)  (84,102.842)  (B6,182.590)
Segnent sets 70,633,728 §70753355  S17370356 1,865,199 SEELO6T  (SRADLESE)  SISTO0LES

Dol Mot sment

Loglc Cayman Cable Co. BYP Yabsia leems Total

Six manths ended September 30, 2014
Revenues from edemal astomers. S11L,631875 6,264,876 SITLEIZ  SIEI06D $27,000 ST3,448  SI2007863
Revenues from stemal qustomes T00,208 26,760 855,671 138,804 27,000 . 1,748,443
Drecition and amertization LESAI2 1,938,199 1,045,988 12,693 125,867 (492,916) 4438243
Opeting expenses £935,990 7,821,145 1,254,495 3,049,969 100,387 2,940,633 2,102,619
Segrment income (ke 1,587,681 (3,467,708 (1,273210) 915,204 (172,254)  (20,127,373)  (22537,660)
Segnent s $38,575,507 570,965,731 S19,308,444 SIBI4I79  SILI32S00  SII5148,512 S246945263

5. Dividends per share

There were no dividends declared during the reporting period. See note & fora potential future special dividend, subject to Regulatory
Authority approval ofthe ATN business transaction.

6. Related partics

The following transactions were camied out with related parties:

fa) Hallvear-end balances arising from sales [ purchases of goods [ services

2015 2014

Receivables from related parties:

- Associates £ 204,537 3 257,806
Payables torelated parties:

v b3 10,596,816 § 10,560,478
Sales to related parties:

e 3 182,305 % 384,961
Purchases from related parties:

= Associales 5 142,102 § 46,661

The payables relate mainly to a KeyTech Director whao 15 a principal of one of the subordinated debt holders.

The receivables from related parties anse mainly from sales transactions and are due one month after the date ofsale. The recervables
are unsecurcd in nature and bear no interest. Mo provisions are held against reccivables from related parties (2014: Mil).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
{Unaudited) for the six months ended September 30, 2015

Goods are sold based on the price lists in force and terms that would be available to third parties.

fb} Xﬂ nnnnnn I T ey

Keymanagement includes Directors (executive and non-executive) and members of Semor Management. The compensation paid or
payable to key management for emplovee services is shown below:

2015 2014
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits H 2397637 3 3,442,100
fe) Lowns to related parties

2015 2014
Loans 1o associates:
AtApril 1 % THLBES & 1,401,685
Loan repayments received - (680, 462)
Interest charged 12,534 31,517
Interest payments received - {24,520)
At September 30 % 753,219 § 728,220

The loans to associates were considered capital contributions to the associates and are included as “investments in associates’ on the
fsce ofthe consolidated balance sheet.

Advances under the loan facility to QuoVadis bear inferest at 5% and are secured on the ficed amnd floating assets of QuoVadis,
Interest relating to all associates loans is included as & component of *share of income of associates” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive incoms:. The promissory note to Cablevision Holding Limated was paid in full during the six months ended September
30, 2014. The promissory note was unsecured, had no set terms of repayment and bore interest at 9% per anmum.

Mo provision was required in 2015 (2014: Nil)for the loans made to associates.

7.  Business combinations

On July 15, 2015 the Company completed & transaction through ene of its subsiciaries which resulted in the Company now owning
1007 of Bermuda Cablevision Limited. As a result, the Company acquired the minority interest for $3.4 million. The Liablity was duse
upon completion of the transaction and payments are made as the previous sharcholders present their share cerificates for
settlement. As at Septenvber 30, 2015 5$1.6 million of the lisbility has been claimed and paid.

8. Events after the reporting period

Om Cictober 5, 2015, the Company entered inte an agreement with Atlantic Tele-Network, Ine. (“ATN™), whereby ATM will acquire a
comtrolling interest in KevTech of at least 51% of KeyTech's share capital. In exchange, KeyTech will receive $£42 million in cash and
ATN's 42.79% of Bermuda Dagital Commmmications Limiled, operating in Berrmxla as “CellOne™ Subject to legal and financial
requirements, KeyTech intends to declare a special dividend of $0.75 per share to the KeyTech sharcholders of record immediately prior
to the closing of the transaction. Following the acquisition, itis expected that KeyTech will acouare the remaming shares of CellOne by way
of merger and the issuance of KeyTech shares in the aggregate of approximately 89%. Cerfain required legal steps for the proposed
trarsaction were approved by KeyTech shareholders at o special general meeting on October 20, 2015, The transaction is subject 1o legal
amd regulatory consents and approvals in both Barmuda and the Cayman [slands.

These financial statements record the Company s existing investment in CellOne using the equity method of accounting and do not
reflect any adjustments to uplift this investment to its fair value.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
{Unaudited) for the six months ended September 30, 2015

a9

Tmpairment of assels

The tramsaction described in note 8 was considered to be an indicator of impaimment under 1AS 36 “Impairment of Assets”, These consolidated
financial statements include impairment charges (o property, plant and equipment and imangible assets of $17,083,259 and $65985,998
respectively (20 14: milp. These impairment charges reflect estimated valuation of thess as2e1s onan enterprise valwation basis. Managemeant’s
assessment of the value in use of these assets, under International Financial Reporting Standards, has not yet been completed and could result
in impaimment charges that are materially different to those recorded in these financial stalements,

The cutcome of management’s final assessment of impairment will be recorded in the consolidated financaal statements for the vear ended
March 31, 2016.






PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Bermuda Cablevision Limited
firading as “Legic'}

30 Victoria Streel

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

www.logic.hm

WestTel Limited
ftrading as “Logic’}
43 Eclipse Dr
Grand Cayman
Cayman [slands
www.logle.ky

Cable Co. Ltd.
30 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 12
Bermusda

Bermuda Vellow Pages Limited
Swvan Building

26 Victoria Street

Hamilion HM 12

Bermwla

www. hermadayp.bm

KeyTech Limited
PO Hox HM 2443
Hamilion HM JX
Bermuda

Tel; +1 441 295 5009
Fax: +1 441 292 4984

www. kevtech.bm



Exhibit 99.3
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is provided for informational purposes only. The unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial information is not necessarily indicative of what the financial position or results of operations of ATN International, Inc. (the
“Company” or “ATN”) or KeyTech Limited (“KeyTech”), actually would have been if the acquisition of KeyTech by the Company had been completed as of
and for the periods indicated. In addition, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not purport to project the future financial
position or operating results of the Company after consummation of the acquisition.

Pro forma adjustments related to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined income statements give effect to certain events that are (i) directly
attributable to the acquisition, (ii) factually supportable and (iii) expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results. Pro forma adjustments related
to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet give effect to events that are directly attributable to the KeyTech acquisition, and that are
factually supportable regardless of whether they have a continuing impact or are non-recurring.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is based on a number of other assumptions and estimates and is subject to a
number of uncertainties relating to the KeyTech acquisition and related matters, including, among other things, estimates, assumptions and uncertainties
regarding (1) the estimated fair values of certain assets and liabilities acquired, which are sensitive to assumptions and market conditions, (2) the actual
amount of the bargain purchase gain that will arise from the acquisition, and (3) the amount of costs relating to the acquisition.

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information for ATN International, Inc. and KeyTech

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared by the Company’s management and gives pro forma
effect to the completion of the acquisition by the Company of a controlling interest in KeyTech Limited (“KeyTech”). KeyTech is a publicly held Bermuda
company listed on the Bermuda Stock Exchange (“BSX”) that provides broadband and cable television services and other telecommunications services to
residential and enterprise customers under the “Logic” name in Bermuda and the Cayman Islands. Keytech also owned a minority interest of approximately
43% in the Company’s consolidated subsidiary, Bermuda Digital Communications Ltd. (“BDC”), which provides wireless services in Bermuda under the
“CellOne” name. As part of the transaction, the Company contributed its ownership interest of approximately 43% in CellOne and approximately $42 million
in cash in exchange for a 51% ownership interest in KeyTech. Also, as part of the transaction, CellOne was merged with and into a company within the
KeyTech group and the approximate 15% interest in CellOne held, in the aggregate, by CellOne’s minority shareholders was converted into the right to
receive common shares in KeyTech (the “Acquisition”). Following the transaction, CellOne is now indirectly wholly owned by KeyTech, and KeyTech
continues to be listed on the BSX. A portion of the cash proceeds that KeyTech received upon closing was used to fund a one-time special dividend to
KeyTech’s existing shareholders and to retire KeyTech’s subordinated debt.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations combine the historical consolidated statements of operations of the Company
and KeyTech, giving effect to the Acquisition as if it had occurred on January 1, 2015. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet combines
the historical consolidated balance sheets of the Company and KeyTech, giving effect to the Acquisition as if it had been consummated on December 31,
2015. KeyTech’s fiscal year begins on April 1 and ends on March 31. As permitted by Article 11 of Regulation S-X KeyTech’s results for the twelve months
ended September 30, 2015 were used to prepare the pro-forma income statement. The twelve month data was prepared by adding the six months ended
September 30, 2015 with the six months ended March 31, 2015. The six months ended March 31, 2015 was calculated by removing the six months ended
September 30, 2014 from the twelve months ended March 31, 2015, adjusted for discontinued operations. You should read this unaudited pro forma
information in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information, the historical financial
statements of the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), and historical financial statements of KeyTech filed herein.

The Acquisition is treated herein as a purchase of KeyTech by the Company, in accordance with ASC 805. Accordingly, ATN calculated the fair value
of the net assets acquired and consideration transferred. The fair value of net assets acquired exceeded the fair value of the consideration transferred resulting

in ATN recording a bargain purchase gain equal to the excess. In the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet, the consideration

1

transferred by the Company to acquire KeyTech has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon the Company’s preliminary
estimate of their respective fair values as of the date of the Acquisition. As part of the Acquisition, ATN’s BDC subsidiary became an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of KeyTech increasing ATN’s ownership interest in BDC from 43% to 51%. The difference between the purchase price and the carrying value of
the non-controlling interest in BDC was recorded through equity.

Final allocations have not been completed and continue to be refined based upon certain valuations and other studies after the closing date of the
Acquisition. Accordingly, the pro forma adjustments relating to the purchase price allocation are preliminary and have been made solely for the purpose of
providing unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and are subject to revision based on a final determination of fair value and changes
in KeyTech’s working capital. Thus, the final purchase price allocation may differ in material respects from that presented in the unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial information. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations also include certain purchase accounting
adjustments, including items expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results, such as decreased depreciation and amortization expense on
acquired tangible and intangible assets.

The unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial information conforms KeyTech’s accounting policies to those of ATN. KeyTech’s financial
information is prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and ATN’s financial information is prepared in accordance with US
GAAP. Based on ATN’s review of the summary of significant accounting policies disclosed in the financial statements of KeyTech, it identified certain
adjustments to conform IFRS accounting policies to US GAAP. These adjustments are documented in the pro forma combined condensed financial
information. Further review of the accounting policies and financial statements of KeyTech may result in revisions to the policies and classifications of
KeyTech in order to conform to the policies and classifications of ATN.

Items Not Reflected in the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined income statements do not include the impacts of any revenue, cost or other operating synergies that may
have resulted or may result in the future from the Acquisition. Therefore, certain revenue and expense amounts will likely be different, both in total and as a



percent of overall revenue and expense, in future periods even if the Company were to continue the exact same pricing, service scope, and subscriber levels as
in the past. For example, revenue and expense, and many network operating expenses will be different as a result of the integration CellOne’s operations into

KeyTech.

Both the Company and KeyTech incurred certain direct, incremental and non-recurring acquisition expenses in the amount of $1.1 million during the
periods presented in connection with the Acquisition. These expenses were removed from the pro forma condensed combined statements of operations as a
pro-forma adjustment for the year ended December 31, 2015 as they were direct and incremental to the Acquisition and will not recur in future periods.

2

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet

December 31, 2015
KeyTech -
(@) IFRS to
(a) Keytech - GAAP Pro Forma Pro Forma
ATN IFRS Adjustments Adjustments Combined

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 392,869 $ 4,361  $ — $ (24,700)@1) $ 372,530
Accounts receivable, net 39,020 7,816 — — 46,836
Materials and supplies 8,220 56 — — 8,276
Prepayments and other current assets 28,383 2,296 — — 30,679

Total current assets 468,492 14,529 — (24,700) 458,321
Fixed assets, net 373,503 105,518 (13,107)(k) 13,107(c) 479,021
Telecommunications license, net 43,468 — — — 43,468
Goodwill 45,077 — — — 45,077
Intangible assets, net 1,498 4,050 — 1,900(c) 7,448
Other assets 12,966 27,165 — (23,681)(f) 16,450

Total assets $ 945,004 $ 151,262  $ (13,107) $ (33,374) $ 1,049,785
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current portion of long-term debt $ 6,284 $ 6,429 $ — $ — $ 12,713
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 44,137 15,657 — — 59,794
Dividends payable 5,142 — — 12,089(g) 17,231
Accrued taxes 9,181 — — — 9,181
Advanced payments and deposits 9,459 — — — 9,459
Other current liabilites 10,152 5,588 — — 15,740

Total current liabilities 84,355 27,674 — 12,089 124,118
Deferred income taxes 45,406 — — — 45,406
Other liabilities 26,944 — — — 26,944
Long term debt, excluding current portion 26,575 55,237 — (24,700)(i) 57,112

Total liabilities 183,280 82,911 — (12,611) 253,580
Common stock 168 3,806 — (3,806)(c) 168
Treasury stock (18,254) — — — (18,254)
Additional paid-in capital 154,768 115,746 — (119,953)(c) 150,561
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) 547,321 (67,687) — 74,313(c) 553,947
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (3,704) 14,282 (13,107)(k) (1,175)(c) (3,704)

Total stockholders’ equity 680,299 66,147 (13,107) (50,621) 682,718
Non-controlling interests 81,425 2,204 — 29,858(c) 113,487

Total equity 761,724 68,351 (13,107) (20,763) 796,205
Total liabilities and equity $ 945,004 $ 151,262  $ (13,107) $ (33,374) $ 1,049,785

3
Unaudited Pro Forma Statement of Operations
Twelve months ended
(@) (a), (b) KeyTech - IFRS
ATN KeyTech to GAAP Pro Forma Pro Forma
December 31, 2015 September 30, 2015 Adjustments Adjustments Combined

Revenue:

US wireless 155,390 — $ — $ — $ 155,390

International wireless 81,652 — — — 81,652

Wireline 86,485 82,028 — — 168,513

Renewable energy 21,040 — — — 21,040

Equipment and Other 10,802 8,885 — — 19,687

Total revenues 355,369 90,913 — — 446,282



Operating expenses (excluding
depreciation and amortization unless
otherwise indicated):

Termination and access fees 81,928 33,679 — — 115,607
Engineering and operations 37,244 5,975 — — 43,219
Sales and marketing 21,466 9,913 — — 31,379
Equipment expense 14,997 3 — — 15,000
General and administrative 59,890 30,929 — — 90,819
Transaction-related charges 7,182 199 — (1,122)(d) 6,259
Depreciation and amortization 56,890 22,014 (571 (k) (11,255)(e) 67,078
Gain on disposition of long-lived assets (2,823) — — — (2,823)
Impairment of assets — 83,069(1) — — 83,069
Operating expenses 276,774 185,781 (571) (12,377) 449,607
Income from operations 78,595 (94,868) 571 12,377 (3,325)

Other income (expense)

Interest Income 588 206 —(5) @) 789
Interest Expense (3,180) (3,864) — 1,992(i) (5,052)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiary (19,937) — — — (19,937)
Other income (expense), net 135 19,016 2,021(k) (6,725)(h) 14,447
Other income (expense) (22,394) 15,358 2,021 (4,738) (9,753)
Income before taxes 56,201 (79,510) 2,592 7,639 (13,078)
Income taxes 24,137 — — 566(j) 24,703
Income from continuing operations 32,064 (79,510) 2,592 7,073 (37,781)
Income from discontinued operations net
of tax 1,092 — — — 1,092
Net income 33,156 (79,510) 2,592 7,073 (36,689)
Net income attributable to non-
controlling interests, net of tax (16,216) 69 — 35,684(h) 19,537
Net income attributable to stockholders $ 16,940 $ (79,441)  $ 2,592 $ 42,757 $ (17,152)

Net income per weighted average basic
share attributable to ATN
International, Inc. stockholders:

Continuing operations $ 0.99 $ (1.14)

Disontinued operations $ 0.07 $ 0.07

Total $ 1.06 $ (1.07)
Net income per weighted average diluted

share attributable to ATN

International, Inc. stockholders:

Continuing operations $ 0.98 $ (1.13)

Disontinued operations $ 0.07 $ 0.07

Total $ 1.05 $ (1.06)
Weighted average common shares

outstanding:

Basic 16,022 16,022

Diluted 16,142 16,142

Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information
(in thousands, except share data)

(a) Certain reclassifications have been made to the historical presentation of KeyTech to conform to the presentation used in the unaudited pro forma
condensed combined balance sheet and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations.

(b) KeyTech’s fiscal year begins on April 1 and ends on March 31. As permitted by Article 11 of Regulation S-X KeyTech’s results for the twelve
months ended September 30, 2015 were used to prepare the pro-forma income statement.

(c) ATN has completed its preliminary assessment of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed of KeyTech. The purchase price is
allocated to KeyTech net assets acquired and ATN’s increased ownership interest in BDC. Because ATN maintained control of BDC before and after
the transaction, the excess of the fair value of the consideration paid over the carrying value of the non-controlling interest acquired is recorded in



equity. The tables below represent a preliminary allocation of the total acquisition cost based on management’s preliminary estimate of their
acquisition date fair values:

Consideration Transferred

Cash consideration - KeyTech $ 34,517
Cash consideration - BDC 7,046
Total consideration transferred 41,563
Non-controlling interests - KeyTech 34,905
Total value to allocate $ 76,468
Value to allocate KeyTech T 69,422
Value to allocate - BDC 7,046

Preliminary purchase price allocation KeyTech:

Cash 45,925
Accounts receivable 7,816
Other current assets 2,352
Property, plant and equipment 105,518
Identifiable intangible assets 5,950
Other long term assets 3,485
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (12,244)
Dividends payable (12,089)
Advance payments and deposits (5,415)
Other current liabilities (3,586)
Current debt (6,429)
Long term debt (55,237)
Net assets acquired 76,046
Gain on KeyTech bargain purchase $ 6,624

Preliminary purchase price allocation BDC:
Carrying value of BDC non-controlling interest 2,842

Excess of purchase price paid over carrying value of non-controlling interest $ 4,204

The purchase price and resulting bargain purchase gain are the result of the market conditions and competitive environment in which KeyTech
operates along with ATN’s strategic position and resources in those same markets. Both companies realized the opportunity that their combined
resources would accelerate the transformation of both companies to better serve customers in these markets. The gain on bargain purchase is not
reflected in the Unaudited Pro Forma Statement of Operations since it is a nonrecurring item; however it is included Retained Earnings within the
Unaudited Pro Forma Balance Sheet.

(d) Eliminates acquisition related costs since these costs are direct and incremental to the Acquisition and are not expected to recur.

(e) Reflects the adjustment to depreciation and amortization of KeyTech’s tangible and intangible assets arising from their estimated fair values and
useful lives. The estimated depreciation and amortization, as if the Acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the 12 months presented are as

follows:
Estimated Depreciation and
useful life Fair amortization
(in years) Value expense
Telecommunication equipment 4-18 $ 52,352 § 5,384
Buildings 30 26,501 883
Office and computer equipment 3-6 7,948 1,891
Furniture and fixtures 5 5,801 1,160
Land — 6,242 —
Transportation vehicles 3 793 264
Construction in progress 5,881 —
Total property, plant and equipment $ 105,518  $ 9,582
Trade name Indefinite $ 1,900 $ —
Customer lists 9-13 4,050 606
$ 5950 $ 606
Pro forma depreciation and amortization expense 10,188
Historical depreciation and amortization expense 21,443
Pro forma adjustment to depreciation and amortization
expense $ (11,255)

(f) Prior to the Acquisition, KeyTech accounted for its stake in BDC under the equity method of accounting and BDC was consolidated into ATN’s
results. This adjustment removes the carrying value KeyTech’s equity investment in BDC.
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Upon close of the Acquisition, KeyTech paid a dividend of $0.75 per share to the holders of its common stock. This adjustment accrues for the
payment.

Prior to the Acquisition, ATN consolidated the results of BDC and KeyTech recorded its proportional share of BDC’s income under the equity
method of accounting. This entry eliminates ATN’s non-controlling interest expense related to BDC, eliminates KeyTech’s share of BDC income,
and recalculates ATN non-controlling interest expense based on KeyTech’s pro forma results.

In conjunction with the transaction KeyTech retired $24.7 million of debt. This adjustment eliminates the debt and cash from the balance sheet. It
also eliminates the interest expense and yield on cash from the income statement.

To record income tax expense at an estimated statutory tax rate of 39.5% on pro forma adjustments as appropriate above.

Prior to the acquisition, KeyTech accounted for its land and buildings in accordance with International Accounting Standard 16 — Property, plant and
equipment (“TIAS 16”). Accordingly, land and buildings were presented at fair value. ATN records its land and buildings at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation. This entry conforms KeyTech’s accounting policy to ATN’s by adjusting KeyTech’s land and buildings to equal historical
cost less accumulated depreciation.

ATN’s acquisition of a controlling interest in KeyTech was considered to be an indicator of impairment. KeyTech’s financial statements include
impairment charges to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. These impairment charges reflect estimated valuation of these assets on an

enterprise valuation basis. ATN does not expect similar impairments to recur in future periods.
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